
South Hams Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel

Title: Agenda
Date: Thursday, 16th July, 2020

Time: 10.00 am

Venue: via Skype

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Birch
Vice Chairman Cllr Smerdon

Members: Cllr Pennington
Cllr Austen
Cllr Chown
Cllr Jackson
Cllr McKay
Cllr O'Callaghan

Cllr Reeve
Cllr Rose
Cllr Spencer
Cllr Sweett
Cllr Thomas

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



Page No

1.  Apologies for Absence 

2.  Minutes 1 - 8

to approve as a correct record and authorise the Chairman to 
sign the minutes of the Panel held on 27 February 2020

3.  Urgent Business

brought forward at the discretion of the Chairman;

4.  Division of Agenda

to consider whether the discussion of any item of business is likely 
to lead to the disclosure of exempt information;

5.  Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable 
pecuniary interests, including the nature and extent of such 
interests they may have in any items to be considered at 
this meeting;

6.  Public Forum 9 - 10

A period of up to 15 minutes is available to deal with issues 
raised by the public;

7.  Executive Forward Plan 11 - 54

(a) Homelessness Strategy Action Plan

Note: If any Member seeks further clarity, or wishes to raise 
issues regarding any future Executive agenda item, please 
contact Member Services before 5.00pm on Monday, 13 July 
2020 to ensure that the lead Executive Member(s) and lead 
officer(s) are aware of this request in advance of the meeting.

8.  Waste Service Update - Presentation and Briefing Note 55 - 74

9.  ICT Update 75 - 84

10.  Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 85 - 108

11.  Task & Finish Group Updates



Page No

(a)Locality Service 

12.  Annual O+S Work Programme 109 - 110

* * * * * *
N.B. Legal and financial officers will not, as a general rule, be 
present throughout all meetings, but will be on standby if required.  
Members are requested to advise Member Services in advance of 
the meeting if they require any information of a legal or financial 
nature.

* * * * * *

MEMBERS ARE REQUESTED TO SIGN THE ATTENDANCE 
REGISTER

THIS AGENDA HAS BEEN PRINTED ON 
ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY PAPER

If you or someone you know would like this 
publication in a different format, such as large print 
or a language other than English, please call Darryl 

White on 01803 861247 or by email at: 
darryl.white@southhams.gov.uk



This page is intentionally left blank



  O+S 27.2.20 

 
 

   
MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE  

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL 
HELD AT FOLLATON HOUSE, TOTNES ON 

THURSDAY, 27 FEBRUARY 2020   
 

Panel Members in attendance: 
* Denotes attendance    Ø  Denotes apology for absence          

* Cllr L Austen * Cllr H Reeve 
* Cllr J P Birch (Chairman) Ø Cllr J Rose 
* Cllr M Chown * Cllr P C Smerdon (Vice Chairman) 
Ø Cllr S Jackson * Cllr B Spencer 
* Cllr J McKay * Cllr J Sweett 
* Cllr D M O’Callaghan * Cllr D Thomas 
* Cllr J T Pennington    

 
Other Members also in attendance:  

Cllrs V Abbott, K J Baldry, H D Bastone, D Brown, J D Hawkins, T R Holway, N A 
Hopwood, J A Pearce, R Rowe and B Taylor 

 
Item No Minute Ref No 

below refers 
Officers in attendance and participating 

All  Director of Governance and Assurance; and Senior 
Specialist – Democratic Services 

8 O&S.73/19 Fusion Representatives and Assets (Leisure) Specialist 
9 O&S.74/19 Head of Development Management Practice 
10 O&S.75/19 Head of Strategy and Projects 
11 O&S.76/19 Monitoring Officer 
15 O&S.80/19 Senior Specialist Assets 

 
 
O&S.69/19 MINUTES 
 

The minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel held on 23 
January 2020 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman. 
 
 

O&S.70/19 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  

Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items of 
business to be considered during the course of the meeting but there were 
none made. 

 
 
O&S.71/19 PUBLIC FORUM 

 
In accordance with the Public Forum Procedure Rules, the Chairman 
informed that no questions had been received for consideration during 
this agenda item. 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



  O+S 27.2.20 

 
 

O&S.72/19 EXECUTIVE FORWARD PLAN 
 
The Panel was presented with the most recently published Executive 
Forward Plan. 
 
In introducing the Plan, the Chairman confirmed that, in accordance with the 
adopted Procedure Rules, there had been no prior requests for updates to 
be received on any of the items listed. 

 
 
O&S.73/19 LEISURE CONTRACT – FUSION ANNUAL REPORT 2019 

 
Consideration was given to a report that presented the 2019 Annual 
Report from Fusion Lifestyle on the management of all six leisure 
centres across South Hams and West Devon. 
 
Following a joint presentation conducted by the Council’s Assets 
(Leisure) Specialist and the Fusion Lifestyle representatives, a debate 
ensued, during which particular reference was made to: 
 
(a) the effectiveness of the recent Task and Finish Group Review.  The 

Fusion representatives and a number of Members wished to put on 
record that the recent Task and Finish Group Review had been very 
successful and had led to closer working relations between the 
Council and Fusion Lifestyle; 
 

(b) the aging nature of the Leisure Centres buildings.  Whilst there had 
been significant investment inside the Centres from Fusion 
Lifestyle, there was a general recognition that the Centres were 
aging buildings that would soon require some investment works to 
be carried out.  A local Ward Member referred to the significant 
recent improvements that had been made to the Ivybridge Leisure 
Centre and urged all Members to visit the site; 

 
(c) the conclusions of the Task and Finish Group in respect of 

sustainability/environmental improvements.  Whilst in the infancy of 
a long journey, the Fusion representatives advised that the Climate 
Change agenda was being given great corporate emphasis by the 
organisation.  The representatives proceeded to outline some of the 
progress and challenges that they were facing to fulfil their 
sustainability and environmental obligations.   

 
Such was the significance of the issue, that an additional 
recommendation was then PROPOSED and SECONDED and 
when put to the vote was declared CARRIED: 

 
‘That the Panel request that Fusion Lifestyle representatives 
provide a further report in six months’ time specifically on the 
progress being made on their sustainability/environmental 
obligations.’ 
 
 

Page 2



  O+S 27.2.20 

 
 

(d) Community Development and Outreach.  Whilst representatives 
confirmed that they did approach local target community groups, 
Members were also reminded that other groups could contact 
Fusion’s Community Development officers themselves.  It was 
noted that all Members had a role to play in this respect and it was 
also acknowledged that Fusion’s Community Development 
resources were not plentiful. 
 
The representatives also informed that they were currently drafting 
the Fusion Annual Sport and Community Development Plan and all 
Members were encouraged to have an input into this process 
before the Plan was signed off in April. 
 
Some Members reiterated their frustrations that a number of 
parishes received no provision from the Community Outreach 
service.  Following a lengthy discussion, it was agreed that a future 
meeting would be set up between Fusion representatives and those 
Members who had expressed concerns;   
 

(e) customer satisfaction levels.  The representatives stated that, whilst 
the customer satisfaction scores were disappointing, they were not 
unsurprising given both the low sample size and the extent of the 
disruption that had been caused by the internal renovation works 
during 2019.  As a consequence, the organisation was very 
confident that the equivalent figures in 2020 would see a 
considerable improvement; 
 

(f) a review of Centre pricing structures.  In light of the number of 
inconstancies and legacy pricing structures, Fusion was currently 
undertaking a detailed review.  In reply and, prior to any proposed 
changes being implemented, the Panel made a formal request for 
all Members to be given advanced notice of the rationale behind 
any proposed changes in leisure prices.  Whilst not wishing to 
influence the operational management of the Centres, Members felt 
it to be important to be aware of any changes before they were 
rolled-out.  When put to the vote, this proposal was declared 
CARRIED; 

 
(g) Totnes Phase 2.  When questioned, the representatives informed 

that Fusion had earmarked £1.5 million towards facility 
improvements at Totnes Leisure Centre; 

 
(h) the ‘Dementia Friendly’ initiative.  The Panel was assured that 

Fusion Lifestyle remained committed to the ‘Dementia Friendly’ 
initiative and the organisation was targeting all of its Leisure 
Centres in the South Hams to be ‘Dementia Friendly’ before the end 
of this year. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



  O+S 27.2.20 

 
 

It was then: 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the Panel: 
 
1. thank Fusion for its 2019 Annual Report and ask that Fusion 

representatives take action on the Member issues that are 
specifically raised in the detailed minutes above; 
 

2. request that Fusion Lifestyle representatives provide a further 
report in six months’ time specifically on the progress being 
made on their sustainability/environmental obligations; and 

 
3. request that all Members be given advanced notice from 

Fusion of the rationale behind any proposed changes in 
leisure prices. 

 
 
O&S.74/19 DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT – PERFORMANCE UPDATE 

 
The Panel considered a report that presented a performance update on the 
Development Management service. 
 
In discussion, the following points were raised: 
 
(a) A number of Members highlighted the latest recruitment position as 

outlined at paragraph 4.2 of the presented agenda report.  The Panel 
recognised the significance of this paragraph and, whilst heartened by 
the positive update given by the lead officer, felt that it was important to 
monitor the position.  As a result, it was PROPOSED and SECONDED 
and when put to the vote declared CARRIED that: 
 
‘the Panel note the staff position that is set out at paragraph 4.2 of the 
presented agenda report and request a verbal update on this matter at 
its next meeting.’ 
 

(b) The Panel welcomed the fact that the Council was investing in upskilling 
its existing staff into the Development Management specialism.  
Furthermore, Members were very supportive of the initiative whereby a 
shared planning apprentice had been recruited between the Council, 
Teignbridge District Council and Dartmoor National Park Authority and it 
was hoped that there could be scope to build upon this concept; 
 

(c) With regard to the proportion of agency staff currently working within the 
Development Management service, the officer advised that the team 
currently comprised of 18 officers, with one being an agency contractor 
and one other being on a short-term contract. 

 
 
 
 

Page 4



  O+S 27.2.20 

 
 

It was then: 
 

RESOLVED 
 
That the Panel note the staff position that is set out at paragraph 
4.2 of the presented agenda report and request a verbal update 
on this matter at its next meeting. 

 
 

O&S.75/19 OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE: APRIL – SEPTEMBER 2019 
 

The Panel considered a report that presented operational performance 
between April and September 2019.  Furthermore, the report also set out a 
proposed approach to future monitoring of operational performance. 
 
In debate, the following points were raised:- 
 
(a) With regard to the PowerBI dashboards, the lead officer informed that 

these would be available for Members to be able to access real time 
performance data during the summer.  Members recognised that there 
would be a training need once these had been launched and it was 
agreed that a tailored session would be included within the Member 
Learning and Development Plan; 
 

(b) There was widespread support expressed for the proposed revised 
approach to be adopted whereby the Panel would be in receipt of 
Corporate Strategy Theme based performance reports.  In terms of 
timing, the Panel requested that the ‘Council Efficiency’ theme be 
presented to the Panel meeting on 4 June 2020. 

It was then: 
 

RESOLVED 
 
1. That the operational performance of the Council during the 

six-month period from April to September 2019 be noted; and 
 

2. That the Panel support the approach to receiving theme 
based reports and request that the ‘Council Efficiency’ theme 
be presented to the Panel meeting on 4 June 2020; and 

 
3. That the Member Learning and Development Plan be 

updated to include a session on PowerBI. 

 
O&S.76/19 GENERAL DISPENSATION TO MEMBERS 
 

A report was considered sought the approval of the Panel to grant a 
General Dispensation to all Members of the Council. 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



  O+S 27.2.20 

 
 

In discussion, a Member repeated his previously raised concerns whereby a 
conflict of interest could arise in the event of a Member of the Executive 
also being a Devon County Council Cabinet Member.  The Member felt that 
the report did not adequately address this point and requested that a 
protocol be produced.  As a way forward, an alternative recommendation 
(as below) was PROPOSED and SECONDED and when put to the vote 
was declared CARRIED: 
 
‘Multi or dual-hatted Council Members also have a General Dispensation to 
speak and vote on matters where they are a Member of another local 
authority and in receipt of a Members’ Allowance from that other local 
authority, except where a conflict exists between South Hams District 
Council and Devon County Council Cabinet Members.’ 

 
It was then: 
 

RESOLVED 
 
That, from the Annual Council meeting in 2020 to the Annual 
Council meeting in 2023, the Panel grant General Dispensations 
to allow all Members of Council to speak and vote where they 
would otherwise have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in the 
following matters: 
 
- Housing: where a Member (or spouse / partner) holds a 

tenancy or lease with the Council as long as the matter does 
not relate to the Member’s particular tenancy or lease; 

- Statutory Sick Pay: if a Member receives this or is entitled to 
receive it; 

- An Allowance, travelling expense, payment or indemnity for 
Members; 

- Any ceremonial honour given to Members; and 
- Setting the Council Tax or a Precept; and 

Multi or dual-hatted Council Members also have a General 
Dispensation to speak and vote on matters where they are a 
Member of another local authority and in receipt of a Members’ 
Allowance from that other local authority, except where a conflict 
exists between South Hams District Council and Devon County 
Council Cabinet Members. 

 
 
O&S.77/19 TASK AND FINISH GROUP UPDATES 
 

(a) Locality Service 
 
The Chairman of the Task and Finish Group advised that the recent 
Extended Leadership Team restructure had significantly impacted 
upon the Review.  In citing the example of a new lead officer now 
supporting the Review, the Panel agreed to defer consideration of 
the outcome report until its meeting on 23 April 2020. 

 
 

Page 6



  O+S 27.2.20 

 
 

O&S.78/19 ANNUAL PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 
 
During consideration of the latest version of the Panel’s Annual Work 
Programme, the following additions, amendments and deletions were made 
to the Programme: 
 
- The Panel was reminded that the ‘Development Management: Verbal 

Update on Recruitment (minute O&S.74/19 above refers) was to be 
presented to its meeting on 23 April 2020; 

- It was agreed that the Draft 2020/21 Annual Work Programme for the 
Panel should be considered at the meeting to be held on 23 April 2020; 
and 

- Officers confirmed that the ‘Council Efficiency’ theme performance 
report would be presented to the Panel meeting to be held on 4 June 
2020 (Minute O&S.75/19 above refers). 

 
 
O&S.79/19 EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 
  It was then: 
 

RESOLVED 
 
That, in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following item of business in 
order to avoid the likely disclosure to them of exempt information 
as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. 

 
 
O&S.80/19 ACCOMMODATION STRATEGY MEMBER WORKING GROUP – 

PROGRESS UPDATE 
 
 The Panel Chairman (who was able a Member of the Accommodation 

Strategy Working Group) provided an update on the progress that had 
been made to date. 

 
 In particular, the Chairman advised that a public report (with some 

exempt appendices) that set out an interim set of Working Group 
recommendations was to be presented to the Executive meeting to be 
held on 19 March 2020. 

 
 
(Meeting started at 10.00 am and concluded at 12.35 pm) 
             ___________________ 
    Chairman 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
PUBLIC FORUM PROCEDURES 
 
(a) General 

 
Members of the public may raise issues and ask questions at meetings of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel in relation to agenda items (and in accordance 
with the O&S rules in Part 4). This session will last for up to fifteen minutes at 
the beginning of each meeting. 
 
(b) Notice of Questions 
 
An issue or question may only be raised by a member of the public provided 
that they have given written notice (which may be by electronic mail) to the 
Democratic Services Lead Specialist by 5.00pm on the Monday, prior to the 
relevant meeting. 
 
(c) Scope of Questions 
 
An issue may be rejected by the Monitoring Officer if: 
 

• it relates to a matter within the functions of the Development 
Management Committee; 

 

• it is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility 
or which affects the district; 

 

• it is offensive, frivolous or defamatory; 
 

• it is substantially the same as a question which has previously been 
   put in the past six months; or 
 

• it requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 
SOUTH HAMS DISTRICT COUNCIL: EXECUTIVE LEADER’S FORWARD PLAN 

This is the Leader of Council’s provisional forward plan for the four months starting July 2020.  It provides an indicative date for matters to be 
considered by the Executive.   Where possible, the Executive will keep to the dates shown in the plan.  However, it may be necessary for some 
items to be rescheduled and other items added. 
 

The forward plan is published to publicise consultation dates and enable dialogue between the Executive and all councillors, the public, and 
other stakeholders. It will also assist the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Panel in planning their contribution to policy development and 
holding the Executive to account.  
 

Local authorities are required to publish updated forward plans on a regular basis.  The Plan is published in hard copy and on the Council’s 
website (www.southhams.gov.uk) 
 

 
The Executive consists of six Councillors.  Each has responsibility for a particular area of the Council’s work.  
Leader of the Council – Cllr Judy Pearce 
Deputy Leader – Cllr Hilary Bastone 
Lead Executive Member for Health and Wellbeing – Cllr Jonathan Hawkins 
Lead Executive Member for Communities and Enterprise – Cllr David May 
Lead Executive Member for Environment – Cllr Keith Baldry 
Lead Executive Member for Customer Service Delivery – Cllr Nicky Hopwood 
 
Further information on the workings of the Executive, including latest information on agenda items, can be obtained by contacting Democratic 
Services on 01803 861105 or by e-mail to democratic.services@swdevon.gov.uk 
 
All items listed in this Forward Plan will be discussed in public at the relevant meeting, unless otherwise indicated with * 
 
 
 
 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 7



KEY DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN BY THE EXECUTIVE 
Portfolio Area 

 
Report Title and Summary Lead 

Member / 
Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in making 

decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees and 
means of 

Consultation 
Enterprise Title:  Revenue Budget Monitoring for April, May and 

June 2020 
Purpose:  A revenue budget monitoring report to 
monitor income and expenditure variations against the 
approved revenue budget for 2020/21 for April, May 
and June 2020. 
 

Cllr Bastone / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of S151 Officer 30 July 
2020 

 

Homes Title: Homeless Strategy Year 4 Action Plan 
Purpose:  To provide to Members an update on the 
Homeless Strategy Action Plan 
 

Cllr Bastone / 
Isabel Blake 

Report of Head of 
Housing, Revenues, and 
Benefits Practice 

30 July 
2020 

To initially be 
considered by the 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel at its 
meeting on 16 July 

2020 
Council Title: Write Off Report for Quarter 4 2019/2020 

Purpose of report: The Council is responsible for the 
collection of: Housing Rents, Sundry Debts including 
Housing Benefit Overpayments, Council Tax and 
National Non-Domestic Rates. The report informs 
members of the debt written off for these revenue 
streams. 
 

Cllr Bastone /  
Lisa Buckle 

Report of S151 Officer 30 July 
2020 

 

Environment Title:  FCC Contract Review 
Purpose:  To provide Members with a review of the 
FCC contract performance 
 

Cllr Baldry / 
Jane Savage 

Report of Head of 
Commissioning and 
Contracts 

17 
September 
2020 

 

Council Title:  Devon Districts Procurement Strategy 
Purpose of Report:  To seek adoption of Devon 
procurement strategy 
 

Cllr Pearce / 
Rosie Wilson 

Report of Corporate 
Procurement Officer 

17 
September 
2020 

West Devon, 
Teignbridge, 
Torridge, Exeter, 
Mid, and North 
Devon Councils 

P
age 12



Council Title: Recovery Plan to the Covid-19 Crisis 
Purpose: to consider the recommendations of the Joint 
Meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel and 
Development Management Committee on the draft 
Recovery Plan 
 

Cllr Pearce / 
Drew Powell 

Report of the Director of 
Governance and 
Assurance 

17 Sept 
2020 

To be considered at the 
joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel / 
Development 
Management Committee 
meeting on 3 Sept 2020 

Council Title: Amended Draft Budget 2020/21 
Purpose: To consider a report that presents an 
amended budget for 2020/21 in light of the impact of 
Covid-19 

Cllr Pearce / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of the Section 
151 Officer 

17 Sept To be considered at the 
joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel / 
Development 
Management Committee 
meeting on 3 Sept 2020 

Enterprise Title:  Commercial Investments Update 
Purpose:  to update the Council on any commercial 
investment opportunities   
 

Cllr Bastone / 
Chris Brook 

Report of Director of 
Place and Enterprise 

17 
September 
2020 

 

Enterprise Title:  Revenue Budget Monitoring up to August 2020 
Purpose:  A revenue budget monitoring report to 
monitor income and expenditure variations against the 
approved revenue budget for 2020/21 up to August 
2020. 

Cllr Bastone / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of S151 Officer 17 Sept 
2020 

 

Executive Title:  Consent to grant a Long Lease at Totnes 
Pavillion 
Purpose:  To allow SHDC to grant Tadpool a long lease 
of the Totnes Pavillion to assist in securing investment 
into the site to improve the facility 
 

Cllr Bastone /  
Chris Brook 

Report of Director of 
Place and Enterprise 

17 Sept 
2020 

 

Strategic 
Planning /  
Environment 
 

Title:  Coastal Concordat 
Purpose of report:  To outline to Members the protocol 
for formal processes where these are shared across 
administrative boundaries / responsibilities 
 

Cllr Pearce /  
Rob Sekula 
 

Report of Head of Place 
Making Practice 

17 
September 
2020 
 

 

Council Title:  Medium Term Financial Strategy for the five 
years 2021/22 to 2025/26 

Cllr Pearce / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of S151 Officer 22 
October 
2020 

 

P
age 13



Purpose of the report: To set the strategic intention for 
all of the different strands of funding available to the 
Council. This brings together all known factors affecting 
the Council’s financial position and its financial 
sustainability, to provide a long term financial forecast. 
 

Council Title: Capital Budget Monitoring Quarter 1 and 
Quarter 2 
Purpose of report: The report advises Members of the 
progress on individual schemes within the approved 
capital programme for 2020/21, including an 
assessment of their financial position 

Cllr Bastone / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of S151 Officer 22 
October 
2020 

 

Strategy Title:  Housing Strategy 
Purpose of report:  To recommend to Members the 
adoption of a revised Housing Strategy 
 

Cllr Pearce / 
Chris Brook 

Report of Director of 
Place and Enterprise 

22 
October 
2020 

 

Environment Title:  New waste Service update 
Purpose of report:   To provide an update to Members 
on progress on the new waste service 

Cllr Baldry / 
Jane Savage 

Report of Head of 
Commissioning and 
Contracts 

22 
October 
2020 

 

 

P
age 14



Report to: Overview & Scrutiny Panel 

Date: 16th July 2020 

Title: Homelessness Strategy Action Plan 2020/21 

Portfolio Area: Homes / Cllr H Bastone 

 

Wards Affected: All 

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken: NA 
 

 

Author: Sophie Cobbledick Role: Senior Housing Specialist 

Contact: 01803 861441 email: 
Sophie.cobbledick@swdevon.gov.uk  

  

 

Recommendation: 

That the Overview & Scrutiny Panel RECOMMENDS that the Executive 
adopts the Homelessness Strategy Action Plan 2020-21 (as attached 
at Appendix 3) with effect from 1 April 2020 

 
 

1. Executive summary 
1.1. Members will recall the adoption of the 2017-22 Homelessness Strategy.  

The document is attached as Appendix 1.  
1.2. The review of the 2019/20 Action plan has been completed and surmised 

in Appendix 2.   
1.3. The draft 2020-21 Action plan is attached as Appendix 3 and details the 

proposed actions for the Strategy’s third year.  
 

2. Background 
2.1. It is a statutory requirement of the Homeless Act 2002 for each Local 

Authority to have a homeless strategy, which reviews homelessness and 
its causes locally, and the plan to tackle and prevent homelessness in 
their area. It is also a requirement that the Authority will consult with the 
public or Local Authorities, voluntary organisations or other as they 
consider appropriate.  Whilst it is not a requirement to consult on the 
annual action plans we would normally consult on the content of the 
annual action plan as part of our annual Homelessness Forum.  
Unfortunately, due to Covid 19 our annual forum could not take place and 
our action plan has therefore been developed to take into account the 
changes brought about by the recent pandemic.    

Page 15



2.2. The South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy was 
adopted in 2017 and included a requirement to produce an annual Action 
plan and the requirement to report to members annually on progress 
against the previous year’s action plan.  

2.3. Members will appreciate the need to respond effectively to emerging 
trends and developments as a result of the Covid19 pandemic.  The 
action plan has been structured to take into account the need for 
flexibility in the face of our communities changing needs. 

 
3. Outcomes/outputs 

3.1. Members are asked to recommend to the Executive the adoption of the 
2020-2021 South Hams & West Devon Homeless Strategy Action Plan (as 
attached at Appendix 3).   

3.2. Officers will report back annually on progress against the Action Plan, 
which includes actions pertaining to the Rough Sleeper strategy, and to 
agree the actions for the following year.  

 
 

4. Options available and consideration of risk 
4.1. The introduction of the Homeless Reduction Act 2017 altered the 

legislative framework within which Local Authorities are required to 
perform. The formulation of the 2018-19 Action plan took into 
consideration the impact of the legislative changes. The review of our 
2018-19 action plan has indicated that the approach taken by South 
Hams and West Devon has successfully delivered against the legislation 
changes.  The 2020-21 action plan is designed to build upon these 
successes. The plans to tackle and prevent homelessness, as contained in 
the strategy, are designed to strengthen wherever possible the effective 
work of early intervention.  

4.2. Some of the actions may require funding. It is important to note that 
Local Authorities still receive a prevention of homeless grant from central 
Government. This is likely to remain at least until 2020. We are not 
making any request for additional funding to deliver this strategy. 

4.3. The extension to the Homemaker contact and the increased costs 
attached to the provision of temporary housing as a result of Covid 19 
have been met through grant received from central government.  

4.4. Members will note that our financial advice service was contracted to 
Homemaker for 2018/19.  The contract value is £40,000 over two years 
split equally between South Hams and West Devon.  Following the 
successful delivery of the contract the tender has been extended for a 
further year.  Additional funding has enabled us to expand the service to 
take into account the difficulties caused by the Covid19 pandemic.  

 
5. Proposed Way Forward  

5.1. That Members recommend to the Executive the adoption of the 2020-21 
Action Plan. 

 
6. Implications 

 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Page 16



Y/N  
Legal/Governance 
 

Y It is a legal requirement of the 2002 Homeless Act 
to have a homeless strategy as set out in 
paragraphs 2.1 and 4.1 of the report 

Financial 
 

Y No additional funding is sought at this time. 
 
It is important to note that Local Authorities still 
receive a prevention of homeless grant from 
central Government. As most of the Actions are 
designed around homeless prevention and early 
intervention, the larger costs of temporary 
accommodation and rehousing will wherever 
possible be negated. This by far not only offers the 
best service for the customer but is the most 
efficient in terms of the Local Authority. 
 

Risk N  
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 
Equality and 
Diversity 
 

Y The public consultation on the Strategy was 
reflective of the local demographic.   

Safeguarding 
 

Y As the Homeless Strategy Action Plan concerns 
work with very vulnerable people and one of the 
priorities is around Health and Wellbeing, the 
corporate safeguarding policy will underpin the 
work of officers who regularly work with homeless 
households. 

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 
 

Y Devon & Cornwall Police contributed to the 
development of the strategy and will remain 
significant partners during the delivery of relevant 
actions in the action plan. 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

Y  The prime concern for the Strategy is around 
tackling and preventing homelessness which in turn 
is designed around improving the health and 
wellbeing of people living in the area. 

Other 
implications 

  
 

 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
Appendix 1 Homeless Strategy 2017-2022 
Appendix 2 Review of 2019/20 Action plan 
Appendix 3 Draft South Hams & West Devon Homelessness Strategy Action Plan 
2020-21 
Appendix 4 – Schools Report 19/20 
 
Background Papers: 
None 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



South Hams & West Devon

Homelessness 
Strategy

2017 - 2022 Working together
South Hams
District Council

Page 19



2

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022
Page 20



3

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

Foreword

Cllr Lois Samuel
Lead Member for Health & Wellbeing, West Devon Borough Council

I am proud to introduce the first Joint Homelessnes Strategy  
for South Hams and West Devon.

The aims and objectives we have set in this strategy build on the progress we have made in the past 
five years of preventing homelessness in West Devon for 1060 households.

In a predominantly rural area such as West Devon, homelessness can easily go undetected. However, 
it is a very real problem for many of our residents, who face the challenge of poor quality housing, 
lack of affordable housing or problems with their own health, which means general needs housing 
is not always appropriate. 

We recognise the complexities and challenges that many of our most vulnerable people face when 
dealing with homelessness. The four priorities set out by this strategy will ensure West Devon 
Borough Council, together with South Hams District Council, can help people overcome these 
difficulties enabling them to lead lives where they have the opportunity to reach their full potential.

Cllr Hilary Bastone
Portfolio Holder for Customer First, South Hams District Council

This strategy represents a continuation of the partnership 
working between South Hams District Council and West Devon 
Borough Council and sets out our ambition to further tackle 
homelessness in our areas.

Since 2012, 1169 households have had their homelessness prevented in South Hams due to 
interventions put in place by the District Council. This strategy further cements our commitment to 
homeless prevention and sets some ambitious actions as to how we will do this.

Lack of social housing, high costs of the private rented sector and lack of supported accommodation 
make the South Hams a challenging place for anyone experiencing homelessness. Working in 
partnership with West Devon has allowed shared learning and opportunity for best practice, which 
in turn improves the service we are able to offer people. 

Homelessness can happen to anyone, at any time and through this strategy we aim to ensure that people 
are given the access to help when they need it, where they need it and for as long as they need it. 

Page 21



4

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

Contents
Introduction .......................................................................................................................................................................................................5

Progress to Date .....................................................................................................................................................................................7

The Strategic Context ..............................................................................................................................................................9

The Review .......................................................................................................................................................................................................13

How the Strategy was developed .....................................................................................................14

The Key Priorities for the Homelessness Strategy .....................................15

Page 22



5

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

The Homelessness Strategy is required to:

 Address the levels of homelessness now, and the factors likely to impact 
on future levels of homelessness, through accurate profiling of the area

 Ensure that there is sufficient accommodation available for people who 
are, or may become, homeless

 Provide services that help to prevent people from becoming homeless. 
This will include a review of their effectiveness and the identification of 
new opportunities to support prevention of homelessness

 Ensure that through effective partnership, working support services can 
be accessed for those people who are, or who may become, homeless – 
or who need support to prevent them from becoming homeless again

 Promote a cultural change so that homelessness is viewed in a wider 
context than just lack of accommodation

This Homelessness Strategy sets out the strategic aims for South Hams District Council 
and the Borough of West Devon. Central to this strategy is the belief that people should 
have settled homes, which will enable them to build settled lives. The overarching aim of 
this strategy is to prevent homelessness. It is hoped that this will be achieved by building 
on our already successful prevention focussed model, and by increasing our focus on the 
single homeless and housing for the under 35’s. 

The 2017-2022 strategy has been designed to address the changes in national policy; 
reductions in public spending; changing demography in the area; the impact of the 
government’s 2013 Welfare Reform Act and the Localism Act 2012 on local people. 

The Homelessness Act 2002 places a duty on local authorities 
to review homelessness, and the influencing factors that cause 
homelessness, and to develop a strategy which addresses the 
findings of the review. 

Introduction 

Page 23



6

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

With Council spending power continuing to decline, South Hams and West Devon have radicalised 
their approach to service delivery across both Councils. It is central to the success of this strategy 
that the opportunities presented to us, as part of our new ways of working, are maximised, and that 
high quality processes are put in place. This will ensure that every contact made will count, in our 
drive to improve the quality of lives and homes within our communities. 

This strategy details our commitment to provide straightforward and effective advice and assistance 
to those affected by homelessness. The varying factors which contribute to homelessness and to 
housing instability are complex and interlinked. People facing homelessness are often vulnerable; 
they may be experiencing, for example, poor health, loss of income and/or relationship breakdown. 
The importance of effective partnerships, with both statutory and voluntary sector organisations, 
is recognised as essential in ensuring a holistic approach toward homelessness, with the aim of 
achieving the best possible outcome for those affected. 

The previous South Hams Homeless Strategy covered the period 2008 -2013, whilst in West 
Devon this was incorporated within a wider housing strategy series which ceased in 2010. Latterly 
objectives relating to tackling homelessness have formed part of the South Hams and West Devon 
joint Council-wide Connect strategy 2011-15. 

We will continue to review progress around these previous strategies but, as we face the challenges 
of the future, we will primarily be looking ahead to the opportunities that joint working can offer. 
A full review of this strategy can be expected in 2022, complemented by an annual refresh of the 
action plan and progress made to date. 

In the last five years, over a thousand households have been prevented from becoming homeless 
in both West Devon and South Hams. We are keen to continue this good work and believe this 
strategy sets out our plan to achieve this, while seeking to address the reduction in resources and 
the impact of welfare reforms. 

Page 24



South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

The priorities were to:

 Improve housing options and choices for  
vulnerable people

 Ensure Devon Home Choice is able to meet local  
housing needs within the new policy framework

 Prevent homelessness

 Raise awareness of housing options

These four priority areas were complemented each year with 
a delivery plan as to how these would be achieved.

Progress to Date

The last adopted document setting out the Councils’ commitment to 
tackling homelessness formed part of the Joint Connect Strategy 2011-2015. 

7

South Hams and West Devon

Connect Strategy

2011 - 2015

CommunityCommunity
Life

EconomyEconomy

EnvironmentEnvironment Homes Homes 

Improving Housing Options and choice for vulnerable people
 Our Money Advice Project assisted 241 people in 2015 across South Hams and West 

Devon and brought an additional £121,743.65 in previously unclaimed benefits and other 
entitlements. This enabled people who had struggled to pay their rent and day-to-day bills 
with the means by which to do so.

 No Second Night Out has seen 75 people accommodated in South Hams and 33 in West Devon, 
since we launched this initiative in 2013. This has enabled us to minimise rough sleeping in our 
area and prevented people, new to the streets, becoming entrenched in the street lifestyle.

 We have assisted Revival Life in the provision of an emergency cold weather rest centre in 
Totnes. This ensures that on the coldest and most inclement nights of the winter, no-one 
needs to sleep on the streets.

 We have increased our in-house letting agency to 47 properties in South Hams and have 
been able to prevent homelessness, while increasing the supply of good quality, affordable, 
private rented accommodation.

 We have completed sanctuary scheme security upgrades to 20 properties in South Hams 
and 9 properties in West Devon, to ensure survivors of domestic violence could remain in 
their own home.

 Jointly with Devon County Council and other Devon Districts, we have developed a 
young person’s homeless protocol to ensure that the needs of young people are best 
met. By focusing on early intervention work, this has contributed to low numbers of youth 
homelessness and young people being taken into care. 

Page 25



8

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

Ensuring Devon Home Choice is able to meet the local housing needs within 
the new policy framework

 In 2015/16 207 general needs properties were let through Devon Home Choice in South 
Hams. An additional 36 were let to people requiring sheltered accommodation. In West 
Devon, there were 136 general needs homes and 31 sheltered properties. 

 Of this figure, 7 new tenants had been previously homeless or threatened with homelessness 
in South Hams and 37 in West Devon

 Both Councils further underpinned the need to address local needs, in rural areas with less 
than 100 units of affordable housing, by prioritising people with a local connection through 
our allocations policy. 

Preventing Homelessness
 Since 2012/13, 1169 households have avoided homelessness in South Hams and 1060 in West 

Devon.

 Since 2011, no families have been placed in Bed and Breakfast accommodation for longer 
than 6 weeks in either West Devon or South Hams

 By working proactively with the County Council, we have been able to offer bespoke advice 
on options for young people. Until recently, this was delivered by a dedicated, in-house, 
Young Person’s worker.

Raising Awareness of Housing Options
 We have established a multi-agency Health and Wellbeing Panel to discuss individual cases, 

and to ensure the best solution to their housing crisis.

 A successful advertising campaign, with detailed information, was targeted to people 
affected by welfare reform. Everyone affected by the spare room subsidy rate was offered an 
appointment with a Housing Advisor.

 Trained Housing Advisors have been in regular attendance at Council Connect events, to 
raise awareness of options and the importance of early intervention.

Page 26



9

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

The Strategic Context

The Legal Framework

The Housing Act 1996

Part 7 of the 1996 Housing Act is still the overarching piece of legislation used by councils in 
determining the way in which they respond to homelessness. The Act has since been amended by 
the Homelessness Act 2002, which has included notable changes in the way Councils use temporary 
accommodation, with greater emphasis on the role of prevention. The 2002 Act is also where the 
requirement to publish a Homelessness Strategy was introduced.

The Localism Act 2011

This Act, in effect, brought an end to the automatic entitlement of a homeless household to be offered 
a social housing tenancy following the acceptance of a full homeless duty under the 1996 Housing Act.

The Care Act 2014

The Care Act set a strong expectation that agencies would work together to protect children, young 
adults and people with care and support needs, who were at risk of abuse and neglect, and who, due 
to those care and support needs, were unable to protect themselves from the risk or experience of 
abuse and neglect. 

Housing and Communities Act

This new Act of Parliament makes widespread changes to housing policy. 

It introduces legislation to allow: 

 The building of 200,000 starter homes which will be available to first time buyers, between the 
ages of 23 and 40, for sale at 20% below market prices.

 The extension of the right to buy, to include housing association properties.

 The Act also includes a package of measures to help tackle rogue landlords in the private rented sector. 

This includes:

 z Allowing local authorities to apply for a banning order to prevent a particular landlord / letting 
agent from continuing to operate when they have committed certain housing offences

 z Creating a national database of rogue landlords/letting agents, which will be maintained by 
local authorities

 z Allowing tenants or local authorities to apply for a rent repayment order, where a landlord has 
committed certain offences (for example ignoring an improvement notice). If successful, the 
tenant or the authority may be repaid up to a maximum of 12 month’s rent.

Page 27



10

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

National Policy

In 2011 The Government produced a report ‘Laying the Foundations: A Housing Strategy for 
England’ that identified homelessness as a key priority. Two reports were produced by a Ministerial 
Working Group on homelessness in 2011 and 2012. Eight government departments including 
Health, Work and Training, as well as Housing, were brought together with local authority and 
voluntary sector partners, to consider ways to end rough sleeping (No Second Night Out 2011). In 
2012, the second report built on the progress of the first and focused on ways in which services 
could jointly prevent, wherever possible, a household reaching a homelessness crisis point. (Making 
Every Contact Count 2012.)

No Second Night Out – A vision to end Rough Sleeping July 2011

Piloted in London, No Second Night Out was rolled out nationally to assist in helping homeless 
people, through the creation of a ‘single service offer’. Its purpose was to ensure that everyone 
would have access to some form of help. 

This, in some cases, involved a reconnection to a place where a person had a local connection, 
or working with other providers to find a solution to rough sleeping. It was designed to address 
the needs of deep-rooted rough sleepers, often the hardest to engage with. It was also intended 
to stem the flow of new rough sleepers, by offering a safety net before they themselves became 
rooted in a street lifestyle.

Funding was available for a short period of time and there were some local successes. However, 
this initiative has had little impact on our rough sleeper figures locally, although it was successful in 
achieving steady numbers rather than an increase.

Making Every Contact Count – A joint approach to preventing homelessness 
August 2012

The aim of Making Every Contact Count was to ensure, wherever possible, that any contact with any 
local agency, by vulnerable families and individuals, was seen as effective and meaningful. 

The report posed 10 Local Challenges to Local Authorities and both South Hams and West Devon 
pledged their commitment to these. While acknowledging there is, already, good progress under 
these challenges, the Joint Homelessness Strategy will build on this and ensure that they remain key 
to our continuing commitment to prevent homelessness.

The 10 Local Challenges are to:

 Adopt a Corporate Commitment to prevent homelessness, which has buy-in across all local 
authority services

 Actively work in partnership with the voluntary sector and other local partners to address 
support, education, employment and training needs

 Offer a Housing Option Prevention Service, including written advice, to all clients

 Adopt a No Second Night Out model or an effective local alternative

Page 28



11

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

 Have Housing Pathways agreed, or in development, with each key partner and client group that 
includes appropriate accommodation and support

 Develop a suitable private rented sector offer for all client groups, including advice and support 
to both clients and landlords

 Actively engage in preventing mortgage repossessions including through the Mortgage Rescue 
Scheme

 Have a homelessness strategy, which sets out a proactive approach to preventing homelessness 
that is reviewed annually, so that it is responsive to emerging needs

 Not place any young person aged 16 or 17 in bed and breakfast accommodation

 Not place any families in bed and breakfast accommodation, unless in an emergency, and then 
for no longer than 6 weeks

The Community House Building Fund

The Community House Building Fund was announced at the end of last year. This is a fund of £60 
million pounds nationwide, with £20 million being directed to the South West. The South Hams 
was granted £1.8 million to assist with the development of community led housing schemes. The 
first half of this money has been paid to the local authority and the remainder will be paid once the 
government has approved our spending plans.

The properties delivered through this fund or any community led scheme should be affordable for 
people to rent or buy in perpetuity and meet the local needs. A plan is being formulated at present 
as to how to spend this fund. If the government approve of the ways in which we will spend this 
money, it is hoped that the South Hams will be eligible for future funding over the next four years.

The white paper which has just been published references this fund when working with Local 
Communities.

Regional Picture

Devon County Council 

Devon County Council has invested £2.5 million in countywide homeless prevention contracts. 
These provide a total of 3,300 support hours per week, through ten independent support providers 
to, on average, 450 people,. 

South Hams and West Devon have been placed in a locality based ‘Southern Hub’ together with 
Teignbridge District Council. The Southern Hub receives 15% of the total support hours for Devon. 

Due to a lack of supported accommodation in both South Hams and West Devon, assistance is 
provided through ‘floating support’ rather than linked to where an individual is living. While this has 
its benefits, some high needs groups, such as those experiencing problems relating to substance 
misuse, mental health, offending behaviour or deep-rooted rough sleeping, remain challenging to 
accommodate in general needs accommodation.

Page 29



12

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

Devon and Cornwall Housing Options Partnership

All ten Devon and Cornwall Authorities are committed to working together to improve the 
consistency and quality of housing options and advice services across the two counties. Held up 
nationally as an example of good partnership working, the partnership has enabled shared policy 
and practice development, while also yielding opportunities for Government funding in the form of 
grants for rough sleeping, debt advice, youth homelessness and working with the private sector. 

Local Policy
Tenancy Strategy South Hams and West Devon

The Localism Act 2011 places a duty on all local authorities to produce a Tenancy Strategy that 
sits alongside its Housing Strategy and Allocations Policy. The strategy is required to set out what 
Registered Providers of Social Housing should take into consideration when making decisions about 
their individual tenancy policies. As the Council no longer has any housing stock, this strategy 
outlines how we expect Registered Providers, with affordable housing in the area, to respond to the 
relevant changes introduced by the Act. 

In accordance with the Localism Act, this strategy sets out:

 The kind of tenancies Providers should offer

 The circumstances in which Providers should grant a tenancy of a particular kind

 Where the tenancy is for a fixed term, the recommended length of the term

 Circumstances in which the Provider should grant a further tenancy, on the ending of the 
existing tenancy

Our Plan

Our Plan identifies the corporate priorities of the Councils, and is reflected in the emerging spatial 
policies within the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan (JLP). 

The challenges of ensuring equitable access to good quality housing are well known in rural areas. 
The JLP will include policies that seek to deliver an appropriate mix and type of new housing, in 
locations that are well connected to established services and facilities, and at prices that cater for all 
incomes. The JLP will have strategic objectives that seek to: improve access to housing; reduce the 
affordability gap; reduce health inequalities related to housing; reduce fuel poverty and positively 
responding to identified housing needs. 

South Hams and West Devon Joint Asset Strategy

The Council’s adopted asset strategy identifies the delivery of a limited number of residential 
properties in the medium term, as determined by the following actions and data:

 Gather intelligence on housing need using; members, parishes and communities, supported by 
official data, in order to prioritise residential development by the Council 

 To commence a limited programme of housing development on existing council land, that is 
appropriate to the site, (i.e. both open market and affordable) using a strategy of re-investment 
based on a mixture of rental and disposal.

Page 30



13

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

The Review

The Local Picture

 As of 30 September 2016, there were 43,239 dwellings in South Hams and 25,403 in West Devon. 
Of the number in South Hams, 3,878 are second homes, 470 are empty, with an additional 54 
empty for 2 years or more, and 127 are uninhabitable. In West Devon there are 534 second 
homes, 295 empty properties, a further 37 empty for 2 years, and 52 properties that are 
uninhabitable. (Source - Council Tax Base, 14th October 2016)

 In the year 2015/16, the number of affordable homes in South Hams was 4659, and in West 
Devon this was 2350 (this includes 50 units of extra care accommodation). In this same year, 60 
affordable homes were built in South Hams and 32 in West Devon.

 The proportion of minority ethnic groups living in South Hams equates to 1.7% of the 
population and 1.6% in West Devon (Source 2011 Census). With regard to homeless applications, 
as a percentage 5.3% were made in SH by minority groups and 1.6% in WD. 

 Average house price in South Hams is £331,625 – land registry and the average house price in 
West Devon is £239,160  (Source - Land Registry)

 Of the 204 households who had their homelessness prevented by South Hams District Council 
in 2015/16, 68 related to rent arrears or reasons of unaffordability. In West Devon, of the 282 
cases of homelessness the Council was able to prevent, 65 of those households also approached 
for reasons of rent arrears or unaffordability. This has followed the same trend in South 
Hams since 2012/13, while in West Devon there has been less consistency, with relationship 
breakdown, parental/family eviction and private sector tenancies ending with notice, all being 
in high proportions. 

 In 2015/16, 26 households approached South Hams as homeless, of which 11 had the full 
homeless duty accepted, while in West Devon, 58 applications were made and 17 of these were 
accepted. 

 Of those accepted as homeless in South Hams, 82% were households with children or expectant 
mothers and 18% were single vulnerable adults. In West Devon, 53% of accepted households 
had dependent children or an expectant mother, with 47% single vulnerable adults.

 As of 31 March 2016, there were 7 households in temporary accommodation in South Hams and 
11 in West Devon. This was a slight increase on the same date in 2015.

 The number of properties let through Devon Home Choice in 2015/16 was 243 in South Hams 
and 167 in West Devon. Of this, seven were allocated to people to prevent them becoming 
homeless, or where the Council had accepted a homelessness duty, to rehouse them in South 
Hams, while in West Devon this figure was 37. 

 In South Hams the rough sleeper estimate for 2015 was nine - an increase of one on the previous 
year and in West Devon this figure was zero, a reduction of two on the previous year’s figure.

Page 31



14

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

How the Strategy 
was developed

Homelessness is a key issue within 
three of our identified corporate 
priorities – Homes, Communities  
and Wellbeing. 

This strategy has been developed through a Joint 
Member Task and Finish Group, who have worked 
together to consider the progress we have made 
in tackling homelessness, within our areas, and 
the key challenges we have to come. The Group 
have been instrumental in setting the priorities 
for this Strategy and the formulation of the Year 
One Action Plan, informed by the evidence base.

Throughout the process of the review, we have 
looked carefully at the people who currently 
access our services. This strategy does not seek to 
create a specific service plan to address the needs 
of each vulnerable group. We have successful 
existing services developed in partnership 
that we will continue to improve. However, the 
Strategy and Action Plan reflects gaps in services 

or additional services we wish to 
offer which will improve how 

we tackle homelessness 
in our area. 

The original Task and Finish group was made up of 
the following members. A Member group focused 
on the delivery of this strategy will continue to 
meet to review progress on the Action Plan. 

Member Council

Cllr Brown South Hams

Cllr Cuthbert South Hams

Cllr Green South Hams

Cllr Hawkins South Hams

Cllr Leech West Devon

Cllr Samuel West Devon

Cllr Yelland West Devon

The Strategy went out to public consultation from 
the 13th December 2016 to the 13th February 
2017. The Consultation sought the views from 
both partner organisations and the public. 

We used the following methods of consultation:

 Online survey

 Press releases

 Outreach events at Okehampton, Tavistock, 
Totnes, Dartmouth, Lee Mill & Kingsbridge at 
high footfall sites.

 One to one sessions with rough sleepers at 
Burke Road Drop-in

 Emails to Partner organisations (both 
voluntary and statutory), all Town & Parish 
Councils, other Devon Authorities and all 
partner landlords

 All elected members.

Page 32



15

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

The Key Priorities for the 
Homelessness Strategy

The review of homelessness in South Hams and West Devon has 
identified four key priorities to reduce and prevent homelessness. These 
form the basis of this strategy and the annual Action Plan. These are:

Understanding 
the True Cost of 
homelessness

Health and 
Wellbeing

Access to  
Housing

Access to  
Services

There is overlap and a proven relationship between these 
areas. However, in order to continue to build on the solid track 
record of preventing homelessness in South Hams and West 
Devon, it is necessary to start to tackle some of the root causes 
of homelessness, in order to make meaningful differences not 
only to a person’s homeless situation, but the reasons why they 
arrived there in the first place. By continuing to be pro-active 
and work alongside our partners, we stand the best chance of 
reducing homelessness and improving people’s 
chances in life.

This strategy comes at a very challenging time 
for all local authorities, as continuing budget 
pressures mean some tough choices on how 
best to target reduced resources in the most 
meaningful way. With this in mind, we have 
formulated an action plan which, we consider, is 
both realistic and achievable while recognising 
our changing position.

Page 33



16

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

Priority 1:  
Understanding the true 
cost of homelessness

Not having a home can make it harder for 
individuals to find a job, stay healthy and 
maintain relationships. (Homeless Link) 

The review highlighted a need to create 
a solid evidence base, about the true cost 
of homelessness and how its long term 
impact can be measured more fully. Our 
findings were informed by data from all 
statutory and voluntary agencies and 
localised to South Hams and West Devon. 

To meet this priority we will:

 Ensure we establish a solid evidence base 
which informs practice across all sectors 
and clearly illustrates the true cost of 
homelessness in South Hams and West 
Devon. 

 Monitor the impact of welfare reform, and 
ensure that this informs future strategic 
priorities

 Recognise the continuing pressures on the 
Councils’ budgets and how best to target 
resources in the most meaningful way 

 Ensure partnerships with other agencies 
demonstrate value for money

 Ensure access to good quality financial 
advice to help tackle poverty, poor quality 
housing and homelessness

USES DRUGSLONG TERM 
PHYSICAL  

HEALTH ISSUES

MENTAL  
HEALTH ISSUES

IN 
EMPLOYMENT

72
in every 100

30
in every 100

56
in every 100

29
in every 100

26
in every 100

6
in every 100

6
in every 100

70
in every 100

SOMEONE 
WHO IS 

HOMELESS

THE GENERAL 
POPULATION

Page 34



17

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

Priority 2: Access to Services

While we recognise the importance of face-to-face 
interaction in building rapport, trust and confidence, 
we also recognise that, increasingly, people who are 
able to resolve their own housing issues would like 
to access services in a different way. We would like 
to ensure that people who are able to resolve their 
own situation are given access to good quality advice, 
so that they have every opportunity to remedy their 
situation, independently.

Of course, the very nature of homelessness means 
a large proportion of the people requiring housing 
advice and homeless services will be vulnerable. 
Disclosures they may need to make to staff are 
often upsetting and traumatic and some, as a result, 
choose not to make contact, or do so, too late. 
Through improving partnership working, we have 
a real opportunity to make a difference to the lives 
of people who have struggled to engage with the 
Council in the past.

In addition to external partnership working, the 
Council has been through a significant service 
transformation project, which has been successful 
in breaking down artificial departmental barriers 
and restraints. It is because of this, that we are in a 
position to design a multi-service approach, based 
on the needs of the customer. This will strip out 
duplication and inefficiencies, while at the same time 
collectively offering people the services they need, 
at a time and place they need them most, without 
the need to repeat the details of, what is often, a 
distressing course of events.

To meet this priority we will:

 Offer advice and assistance 
in a range of formats, so the 
customer can choose how they 
communicate with their Council

 Ensure our most vulnerable 
customers are able to access 
advice services effectively

 Work with partners to ensure 
that we are able to offer 
services at the time and place 
our customers need them most

 Readily and regularly consult 
with our customers and 
stakeholders to make sure we 
get our services right

Page 35



18

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

Priority 3: Access to Housing
The review highlighted the need to improve the supply and quality of 
affordable accommodation, with the largest number of people needing 
assistance with homelessness and housing advice, doing so for reasons 
of unaffordability. Changes to the benefit system, brought about by 
welfare reform, have had a significant effect on the lives of homeless 
people in South Hams and West Devon. To ensure we tackle these 
challenges, it is important to look at wider housing solutions in order 
to continue to meet needs, while also looking to the future in order to 
prepare for the further challenges which welfare reform will bring.

The need to ‘do things differently’ can be compounded in the South 
Hams by our rough sleeper count. Although a very small proportion 
of the people requiring assistance because of homelessness become 
rough sleepers, there is a small population in Totnes where we 
recognise that access to traditional housing is a step too far. There 
needs to be an acceptance of offering help in a new way to maximise 
opportunities for people who have disengaged from traditional society.

The review also highlighted how successful the South Hams in-house 
social letting agent had been at preventing homelessness, in an area 
of high demand and high costs. As of the 30 September 2016, there 
were 47 properties managed by the Council. This has prevented scores 
of families from requiring temporary accommodation and we are 
keen to expand the model in South Hams to take on single person’s 
accommodation and extend the scope of the scheme into West Devon.

To meet this 
priority we will:

 Increase the 
supply, standard 
and options for 
people who face 
homelessness 
within our area

 Develop 
innovative 
options for our 
Rough Sleeper 
Community

 Continue the 
downward use 
of temporary 
accommodation 
for homeless 
households

Priority 4: Health and Wellbeing
South Hams and West Devon both recognise the importance of 
wellbeing for people living in our communities, and as a result, it 
is one of our key corporate priorities. Tackling homelessness takes 
more than just the provision of a house, if we are to maximise the 
opportunities for our most vulnerable residents. 

The health inequalities of homeless people can be evidenced in a 
national health audit undertaken in 2014 by Homeless Link and The 
Department of Health. This showed that 41% of homeless people 
reported a long-term physical health problem (compared to just 28% 
of the general population) and 45% had been diagnosed with a mental 
health problem (compared with 25% of the general population) (Source 
– The Unhealthy State of Homelessness: Health Audit Results 2014)

Often, poor health, addictions and unhealthy lifestyles mean that 
people are unable to secure, and maintain, accommodation for 
themselves or their families. We recognise our supporting role as 
a protector of public health and the importance of working, in 
partnership, to effectively meet and support the needs of vulnerable 
people in South Hams and West Devon.

To meet this 
priority we will:

 Work in partnership 
with our voluntary 
and statutory sectors 
to holistically address 
people’s needs as 
fully as possible.

 Ensure we 
adequately protect 
and safeguard the 
most vulnerable 
members of our 
community

 Enable early help, 
to avoid crisis and 
tackle homelessness 
at its root cause.

Page 36



19

South Hams and West Devon Joint Homelessness Strategy 2017-2022

How the Homeless 
strategy and Delivery Plan 
will be monitored

The life of this homeless strategy is intended to be five years. 

Annually we will publish our progress to date and a refreshed Action Plan.

The delivery of the Action Plan will rely on the resources of both Councils and their partners, 
working together to achieve positive outcomes, for people in South Hams and West Devon. 

It is proposed that the established Task and Finish Group, will continue as a Homelessness 
Steering Group to monitor progress against the priorities and the formulation of Years 2-5 
of the Action Plan for this strategy. This will ensure an ongoing 
conversation, to keep the strategy relevant and ensuring 
that local people continue to have a voice through their 
elected representative.

Page 37



Working together
South Hams
District Council

En
vi

ro
nm

en
t 

Eco
nomy 

Homes 
Communities 

W
ell being

munno uno

Resources 
Heritage 

Infrastructu
re

u

Celebrating our past

Prom
oting energy

na
tu

ra
l e

nv
iro

nm
en

t

to
 grow

of all

communities

healthy lifestyles

Securin
g th

e se
rv

ice
s

and protecting our

e�  ciency and more e� ective

en
ha

nc
in

g 
ou

r b
ui

lt 
an

d

to
 th

riv
e and busin

ess

that meet the needs 

to create strong 

postitive safe and

and facilit
ies t

hat m
ee

t t
he

Cr
ea

tin
g plac

es fo
r e

nterprise

heritage for the future

use of our natural resources

Pr
ot

ec
tin

g,
 c

on
se

rv
in

g 
an

d

Enabling homes 

Empowering residents 

Supporting

needs of o
ur c

om
m

uni
tie

s

Thriving 
Towns and 

Villages 

Page 38



South Hams & West Devon

2019 - 2022 Working together
South Hams
District Council

The purpose of the strategy

This Rough Sleeper Strategy will be delivered and 
monitored alongside the Homelessness Strategy.

South Hams and West Devon will build on the current work that has 
minimised the incidences of rough sleeping within the area. We will adopt 
a robust approach to all forms of rough sleeping in the two Local Authority 
areas and aim to reduce the number of people sleeping rough by 50% by 
the end of 2022 and ensure that no one has to sleep rough by 2027. 

It is common for the council to be perceived by people sleeping rough 
as enforcers and historically the level of engagement that we are able to 
achieve with rough sleepers has been low. There has always been an open 
off er of accommodation for rough sleepers through our No Second Night 
Out principles and the Severe Weather Emergency Protocol. In recent years 
these schemes have been increasingly successful at providing longer term 
accommodation for rough sleepers. However, for some rough sleepers with 
complex support needs it has proved diffi  cult for them to maintain this 
accommodation and ultimately some of these accommodations fail.

South Hams and West Devon are committed to providing a service to 
rough sleepers that responds quickly to their changing needs, promotes 
independence and self-worth and is delivered in a client centred way.

To achieve more sustainable positive outcomes for people sleeping rough 
we will focus on the key targets of the South Hams and West Devon 
Homelessness Strategy.

Rough Sleeper 
Strategy

Page 39



2

South Hams and West Devon Rough Sleeper Strategy 2017-2022

Understanding the true cost of Homelessness

To fully understand the true cost of homelessness we need to ensure that we working from a solid 
evidence base. 

To meet this priority we will:

 Increase our knowledge of the number of people sleeping rough by building on the 
annually required rough sleepers estimate by introducing a quarterly rough sleeper 
estimate. This will ensure that the service delivery can respond more quickly to need.

 Continue to work with partnership agencies to ensure that we are taking account of 
information from a wide sphere of organisations who have contact with or knowledge 
of rough sleepers to maximise our knowledge base. We will monitor these working 
arrangements to ensure that they continue to offer good value for money.

Access to services

The very nature of homelessness means a large proportion of the people requiring housing advice and 
homeless services will be vulnerable and may need additional support to enable them to access services. 

To meet this priority we will:

 Introduce an intensive outreach service to enable the council to talk to rough sleepers 
in their own environment, build rapport and a working relationship to enable them 
to navigate the services that are available. This service will reflect an holistic approach 
focusing on addressing barriers to accessing and maintaining accommodation including; 
access to health care, benefits, support and meaningful occupation. 

 Link this provision in with our continued work with partners to identify true rough 
sleepers, and those at risk of rough sleepers. Enabling us to provide appropriate support 
to assist them to become ready to access accommodation, increasing our focus on early 
intervention where possible. 

 Work with the Prison Navigator to ensure that we work to prevent homelessness for people 
being released from prison and intervene early to identify any support needs and help 
them access the support they need.

 Continue to work with StreetLink to ensure that a clear reporting mechanism remains in 
place for members of the public to let us know about people sleeping rough.

 Remain committed to the Shared Young Persons Protocol that was developed in 
partnership with Devon County Council to ensure early intervention and a homeless 
prevention approach to engaging with young people.

 Continue to provide a Housing Options service that offers tailored advice to everyone who 
is homeless or threatened with homelessness. The focus of the team’s work will continue to 
be on early intervention and homelessness prevention wherever possible.

Page 40



3

South Hams and West Devon Rough Sleeper Strategy 2017-2022

Access to Housing

Housing options for those with a history of rough sleeping need to be innovative and reflect the 
needs of the individual. The Local Authority seeks to achieve this through the provision of multiple 
housing options which will be tailored to meet the needs of the individual.

To meet this priority we will: 

 Ensure that the focus of the outreach support is to encourage rough sleepers to access 
accommodation and to ensure that they are equipped with the support and resources to 
maximise their chances of success. 

 Introduce a supported housing scheme rooted in the Housing First Principles specifically 
targeted at entrenched rough sleepers. 

 Continue to work with our partners to refer into supported accommodation and 
rehabilitation accommodation to as part of the recovery process where appropriate.

 Continue to provide accommodation to people sleeping rough under the Severe Weather 
Emergency Protocol wherever possible and to build on this contact with people sleeping 
rough to encourage them to consider longer term housing options.

 Continue to adhere to the principles of No Second Night out by offering emergency 
accommodation to people who are verified as rough sleeping.

 Remain committed to working with rough sleepers to access the most suitable 
accommodation for their needs including assisting rough sleepers to access private rented 
and social housing where appropriate.

Health and Wellbeing

Tackling homelessness takes more than just the provision of a house, if we are to maximise the 
opportunities for our most vulnerable people. Often, poor health, addictions and unhealthy lifestyles 
mean that people are unable to secure, and maintain, accommodation for themselves or their families. 

To meet this priority we will:

 Introduce a Tenancy Ready training scheme which will help prepare people sleeping rough 
for the significant changes and responsibilities involved in sustaining accommodation and 
maintaining good standards of health. 

 Utilise the services engaged with the Multi Agency Hub to support delivery of an holistic 
service offer to those rough sleeping focused on recovery to enable the individual to thrive. 
To include; Mental Health Services, Drug and Alcohol Support Services and Adult Social Care

 Promote the long term benefits and cost avoidance of developing a high quality outreach 
program with partner agencies and statutory services including Mental Health Team, Drug 
and Alcohol Support agencies and GP’s to enable rough sleepers the opportunity to access 
the health care they need.

Page 41



4

South Hams and West Devon Rough Sleeper Strategy 2017-2022

Monitoring Our Progress

The strategy actions will be monitored in conjunction with the Homelessness strategy, reviewed on 
an annual basis and the strategy will undergo a full evaluation in the 2022 at the end of the life of 
the Homelessness Strategy.

In addition to this we will increase the annual estimate to a quarterly estimate to ensure that we 
have up to date information available to assess the success of the strategic aims.

We will record detailed information regarding the rough sleepers that we interact with including 
detailed information about their support needs and their journey to enable to better shape the 
services that we offer.

Page 42



Appendix 2 
 
Review of progress against 2019-20 Action Plan  
 
Background 
The Homelessness Act 2002 places a duty on local authorities to review 
homelessness, and the influencing factors that cause homelessness, and 
to develop a strategy which addresses the findings of the review.   
 
Our 2017-2022 Homelessness Strategy for South Hams and West Devon 
has been designed to address changes in national policy, reductions in 
government spending, changes in demography in the area and the impact 
of the 2013 Welfare reform Bill, 2012 localism Bill and 2017 Homeless 
Reduction Act.   
 
The Key Priorities for the Homelessness Strategy 
The review of homelessness in South Hams and West Devon 
identified four key priorities to reduce and prevent homelessness.  
These are: 

 Understanding the True Cost of Homelessness 
 Access to Housing 
 Access to Services 
 Health and Wellbeing 

 
These four key priorities form the basis of the strategy and the 
annual Action Plan.  Our 2020-2021 Action plan has been developed 
following a review of the progress made to date on our existing 
2019-20 Action plan.   
 
Progress to date 
The review of the 2019-20 Action Plan demonstrates the positive 
progress made against out targets for the year.  At this stage in the 
delivery of our strategy, many projects that have been established 
now form part of our ongoing work.  Whilst we can confirm that 
good progress has been made on the actions for the year certain 
elements of our action plan have been hampered by the recent 
Covid-19 pandemic and our ongoing delivery of services has needed 
to flex to support both new ways of working and emerging trends 
and issues relating to the impact of the virus.  
 
Review of 2019-20 Action Plan 
 
Understanding the True Cost of Homelessness 

 In the year 2019-20 348 Households were prevented from 
becoming homeless in South Hams and 228 in West Devon.  

 Our Money Advice Contract assisted 174 households across 
South Hams and West Devon in the financial year 2019/2020 
and brought in excess of £177,600 in previously unclaimed 
benefits and other entitlements.   Page 43



 Our DCC commissioned tenancy support service has worked 
with ** households.  (Awaiting figures from provider – will be 
updated asap) 

 Less than 0.5% rent arrears levels across the portfolio of 
properties managed by SeaMoor lettings. 

 Worked with registered providers to develop a rent in advance 
scheme that can meet the needs of both the provider and the 
tenant; enabling tenants to build up the security of an 
advance payment over time alongside financial advice to 
ensure feasibility.   

 Developed a direct referral method to ensure those in arrears 
in housing association properties are able to access support at 
an early stage.  

Access to Services 

 Training in referrals process for partner agencies maintained 
at a high level with training delivered to Adult Services, DV 
services and those in the voluntary sector; to ensure the 
process is embedded in partner agency service delivery. 
Regular training delivered to partner agencies to ensure that 
referral processes are understood and that the focus on a 
preventative approach to homelessness is maintained 

 Increased early identification of those at risk of homelessness 
within the social housing sector through improved joint 
working.  

 Communication with landlords improved across commercial 
letting agent sector through frequent contact and evidenced 
positive outcomes following joint working.  

 Homelessness information and advice has been delivered to 
approximately 710 students in South Hams and 750 in West 
Devon to ensure young people are equipped to access 
services. [See Appendix 4] 
 

Access to Housing 

 Seamoor lettings scheme poised to manage council owned 
properties and involved in the development of longer term 
housing investment opportunities.  

 Leasehold arrangement established to facilitate the provision 
of a high standard 6 bedroom HMO accommodation to those 
in need of affordable shared accommodation.  

 Rough sleeper count reduced from 7 to 1 in South Hams 
 16 rough sleepers supported into long term housing.  
 Housing first model developed with Livewest generating 

provision of 4 properties for housing first use over the coming 
2 years.   

Page 44



 54 Households identified as requiring disabled adapted 
accommodation.  Housing needs met for 31 households. 
Currently work is focussed on the remaining 15 households in 
South Hams and 8 households in West Devon requiring 
adapted accommodation.  

 Two Temporary Accommodation Support officers recruited 
and in post to provide high level support to those in 
temporary accommodation to facilitate effective move on. 

 Having explored the Homes for Cathy project with Registered 
Providers a number have signed up to the commitment.  We 
have established that all of the housing providers we work 
with there is an appetite to work towards the general goals 
but for some a more flexible approach to this is preferred. We 
are working with Livewest to deliver the housing element of 
our rough sleeper project. 
 
  

Health and Wellbeing 

 Working in partnership with Marketplace Ministries we have 
produced a Tenancy Ready Training Scheme to support rough 
sleepers in their transition into long term accommodation.  

 Feasibilities studies commenced into the provision of specialist 
housing for those with learning difficulties in partnership with 
Devon County Council.  

 H&W panel for adapted housing - 31 households identified and 
resolved and additional 251 adaptions made to enable people 
to remain in their homes. 

 Through the Disabled Adapted need panel  and Health and 
Wellbeing we have been using the data from Devon Home 
Choice  to identify households in high and medium housing 
need that have specific housing requirements.  This 
information is shared with the affordable housing time who 
are looking to integrate these properties into new 
development plans. 
 

 
 
Actions to be rolled over as incomplete:  
 

 Homelessness forum – booked for mid-March 2020 but 
cancelled due to pandemic.  Options for future forum formats 
to be considered.  

 Landlord Bulletin – 1st edition created early this year.  
Dissemination paused due to conflicting guidance released 
relating to renters in response to the Covid 19 Pandemic.   

o Bespoke advice around changes made as a result of 
Covid 19 delivered across the borough.  All ‘park home’ 

Page 45



establishments contacted to ensure compliance and to 
reduce the risk of homelessness.  

 

Page 46



Homelessness Strategy Action Plan 2020-21 

Understanding the True cost of homelessness 

 Ensure there is a solid evidence base which informs, across all sectors, the true cost 
of homelessness in South Hams & West Devon. 

 Monitor the impact of welfare reform, to inform future strategic priorities 
 Recognise the continuing pressures on Council’s budgets and how best to target 

resources in the most meaningful way, ensuring partnerships with other agencies 
demonstrate value for money. 

 Ensure access to good quality money advice, to help tackle poverty, poor quality 
housing and homelessness 

HSU1 
 
 

Continue to build on the success of the 
current service delivery of Money advice and 
extend this to identify trends specific to the 
Covid 19 pandemic to ensure resources are 
targets appropriately.  

Effective targeting of 
support 

HSU2 
 
 

Improve communication and information 
sharing with landlords across the rental sector 
on support available to tenants impacted on 
by welfare reform. To enable early 
identification and intervention. 

Reduction in the number 
of households evicted 
from private rented 
accommodation. 
Reduction in repeat 
service users 

HSU3 
 
 

Using existing data; map support services 
available to those who are vulnerable.  

Effective targeting of 
support and reduction of 
cost to LA  

HSU4 
 
 

Prepare to use 2021 Census data to create an 
accurate picture of the area demographic 
using 2011 data available to identify changing 
trends.  

Effective targeting of 
support and reduction of 
cost to LA 

HSU5 Explore methods of identifying approaches as 
a result of worklessness following Covid19 
pandemic to enable early intervention and 
build on our prevention focused approach.   

Effective targeting of 
support and reduction of 
cost to LA 

HSU6 Maintain the current low levels of rent 
arrears for tenants of the SeaMoor lettings 
scheme through the appropriate targeting of 
support.  

Reduction in the number 
of households evicted 
from private rented 
accommodation 
 

HSU7/RS Conduct quarterly Rough Sleeper estimates to 
ensure that services can respond quickly to 
needs.  

Effective targeting of 
support and reduction of 
rough sleeper numbers 

Access to services 

 Offer advice and assistance in a range of formats, so the customer can choose how 
they communicate with their Council 

 Ensure our most vulnerable customers are able to access advice services effectively 
 Work with partners to ensure that we are able to offer services at the time and place 

our customers need them most 

Page 47



 Ensure we are readily and regularly consulting with our customers and stakeholders 
to make sure we get our services right. 

 

HSS1/RS 
 
 

Improve links with the 3rd sector services 
currently offering support to increase the 
number of early identification referrals 
made from this sector.  Focussing 
particularly on the community groups 
supporting those impacted on by the Covid 
19 pandemic to drive forward the 
partnerships that are improving lives. 

Increased early 
intervention and 
homeless 
prevention 
work 

HSS2 
 
 
 

Offer training opportunities to those 
working or volunteering in the 3rd sector to 
promote early homeless prevention and 
safeguarding activity within these groups.    

Increased early 
intervention and 
homeless 
prevention 
 

HSS3 
 
 

Develop effective ways to deliver our 
Homelessness Forum objective whilst 
observing social distancing, to ensure 
ongoing dialogue with partner agencies and 
to ensure our service reflects a holistic 
approach to customers and encompasses a 
community response.  

Maintenance of 
partnership 
working and 
effective 
consultation  

HSS4 
 
 

Produce an annual landlord bulletin 
enabling landlords to sign up to receive 
legislative updates which may impact on 
their lettings, reflect any FAQ’s raised 
through the inquiry line and offer guidance 
on legal matters.  

Reduction in the 
number 
of households 
evicted 
from private 
rented 
accommodation 
 

HSS5 Develop interactive online communication 
options for landlords. 

Improve 
communication 
with landlord to 
increase early 
identification of 
homelessness  

HSS6 
/RS 

Work with the Prison Navigation Steering 
Group to develop a pathway to prevent the 
homelessness of prisoners released.   

Maintain low 
numbers of 
rough sleepers 

HSS6 
/RS 

Deliver intensive bespoke support to those 
rough sleeping which is focused on breaking 
down barriers in accessing a wide range of 
services to aid recovery.     

Maintain low 
numbers of 
rough sleepers 

HSS7 
 
 

Improve partnership working with local 
schools in the form of bespoke 
training/information sharing annual forums 

Increased early 
intervention 
reduction in 

Page 48



to ensure vulnerable children and families 
are equipped to access services both in the 
statutory and voluntary sector.  

Youth and family 
homelessness  

Access to Housing 

 Increase the supply, standard and options for people who face homelessness within 
our area 

 Develop innovative options for our Rough Sleeper Community 
 Continue the downward use of temporary accommodation for homeless households. 

HS1 
 

Review current landlord incentive scheme 
to increase supply of private rented 
accommodation through Seamoor Lettings.  
 

Reduction in 
cost of 
temporary 
accommodation 

HS2 
 

Establish a Housing Company in the form of 
a Community Benefit Society to enable and 
increase provision of affordable housing 
across our community.   

Increase in 
availability of 
affordable 
homes.   

HS3 
 
 

Use the Health & Wellbeing Panel to 
accurately identify barriers to accessing 
housing for those in medium housing need 
and to predict future trends and needs. 

Reduction of 
those in high 
housing need 
on housing 
register 
 

HS4/RS 
 

Continue to develop the Housing First 
model, alongside other housing options, to 
ensure options are bespoke to the needs of 
those rough sleeping. 

Reduction in 
Rough 
Sleeper 
estimated 
count 

HS5 Continue to build the SeaMoor property 
portfolio to increase access to the private 
rented sector for those on mid to low 
incomes. 

Increase in new 
properties 
under the a 
management of 
SeaMoor 
Lettings 

HS6/RS Deliver targeted support to those in 
temporary accommodation and rough 
sleeping to enable faster identification of 
suitable private rented and social housing 
options.  

Reduction in 
the cost of 
temporary 
accommodation  

HS7 Continue to develop bespoke and high quality 
temporary housing solutions in West Devon 
through the Springhill project 
 

Reduction in 
the cost of 
temporary 
accommodation 

HS8 Work collaboratively with housing partners 
to ensure that BAME households are not 
disadvantages by current approaches to 
housing application and allocations. 
 

Improved 
transparency in 
housing 
allocation and 
the impact 

Page 49



current systems 
have on the 
housing 
opportunities of 
BAME 
residents.  

 

 

Health & Wellbeing 

 Work in partnership with our voluntary & statutory sectors to holistically address 
people’s needs, as fully as possible. 

 Ensure that we adequately protect & safeguard the most vulnerable members of our 
community 

 Enable early access to help, to avoid crisis and tackle homelessness, at its root cause. 

HSW1 
 

Develop innovative ways of engaging with 
community groups to facilitate shared 
learning and understanding of local needs 
as part of the Vulnerable Customer 
Charter approach.   

Provision of more 
holistic service to 
customers with 
complex needs 
resulting in more 
suitable and 
sustainable 
prevention 
opportunities.  

HSW2 
 

Work with DCC to develop and publish the 
‘Care Leavers Offer’ to ensure an holistic 
approach to their needs and help equip them 
for the future 
 

Early 
identification of 
need and 
prevention of 
homelessness. 

HSW3 
 

Work with Devon County Council to 
develop bespoke housing options for 
those with Learning Disabilities to ensure 
high level of quality housing and care 
provision.  

Improved future 
planning for 
service delivery 
and reduction in 
housing needs 
due to H&W. 

HSW4 
 

Create a joint working protocol with Adult 
Services to target issues around hoarding 
and self-neglect in the home.  

Early 
identification of 
need and 
prevention of 
homelessness.  

HSW5 Develop a dynamic new approach to working 
with perpetrators of domestic abuse to link in 
with the success of the existing Behaviour 
Change scheme by introducing an 
accommodation element to reduce the risks 
presented to the victim.   

Increased 
wellbeing of 
customer as a 
result of 
the most 
appropriate 

Page 50



 Intervention 

HSW6 Investigate the use of DFG funding to create 
adapted emergency housing opportunities to 
reduce bed blocking in hospitals.  
 

Increased 
wellbeing of 
customer as a 
result of 
the most 
appropriate 
Intervention. 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

& 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Work we have done to date? 
 

In setting up this post we were looking at developing a sustainable model which could 
continue past the 24 months of funding. We spent the first part of time collating 

contacts and numbers of the schools, making those links with relevant people in each 
school who would support in organising the sessions. 

 
We have also created workshop session plans with tools and activities for young people 

to take part in, designed power points to deliver to the groups we meet and put 
together a school’s pack which can be left for teachers to use in PSHE lessons. 

 
We created feedback forms which have been used by young people and professionals in 

the sessions we have delivered. 

 Ivybridge Community 

College 

 Kingsbridge Community 

College 

 Dartmouth Academy 

 KEVICC, Totnes 

 Tavistock College 

 Okehampton College 

 

3 Assemblies  

& 

3 Sessions 

Appendix 4 

Page 53



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What We Found?  

Positives 

Some schools were really keen and 
organised. 
 
Initially we tried to get in touch with 
heads of year but we realised getting 
in touch with the PSHE organiser in 
each school was better, as they were 
better paced to offer lessons.  
 
Lots of Schools wanted assemblies 
instead of lessons; this meant we 
reached more young people in the 
school.   
 
Some schools targeted young people 
for sessions; this meant we spoke to 
those who might have been most at 
risk of homelessness in the future.   
 
We found the informal conversations 
between young people really useful 
for myth busting and targeting 
sessions to particular locations within 
the districts. 
 
 

 

Challenges 

Initially making contact with schools 
was a challenge, Schools didn’t always 
contact back and we realised knowing 
who to send an email to or call was 
vital. 

A number of schools changed our 
dates back and forth due to other 
commitments in the schools. 
 
Lots of schools wanted assemblies 
instead of lessons this meant we did 
not go in to depth in an interactive 
way with as many young people, as if 
we had done sessions with them all.  
 
In some schools we didn’t fit in their 
timetable.  
 
Following our visits we emailed our 
feedback form after the visit asking 
for feedback, we did not receive any 
in this way so learnt feedback at the 
time is the best way to get this.  
 

Page 54



Briefing note for SH Overview & Scrutiny Panel 

New Waste Service Update 

 

The improved recycling service was due to start on 28th September 2020.  The service change 
includes a weekly recycling collection which accepts food, glass, and mixed rigid plastics along with 
existing materials. The service requires new containers to be delivered to all households, the 
procurement of a new recycling fleet and the construction of a stockpiling depot at Ivybridge.  

Unfortunately, Covid-19 has created in significant issues within the international supply chains 
providing some of these goods and services. 

Any delay to the introduction of the new service has a cost attached, mainly derived from continuing 
with the old service, such as on-going provision of single-use recycling sacks, and also from the 
deterioration of global commodity markets for the sale of recyclate.   

Officers have therefore sought to mitigate the effects as far as possible by exploring options with our 
Waste Disposal Authority and contractor and by persistent direct communication/negotiation with 
suppliers.  

Unless a second wave of the virus causes further issues, we are as confident as we can be of the final 
dates for the delivery of the fleet and containers and completion of the depot. Whilst these are not 
in time for the original planned start of the service, the new launch date in March has been carefully 
chosen to take full advantage of the opportunity to maximise communication activity and therefore 
to reduce the risk to the Council’s reputation.  

In addition, a round review is planned to take place in September which is intended to get the 
majority of the collection day changes out of the way before March therefore reducing customer 
contact at this time.  

The revenue monitoring report has stated a worse-case scenario cost of £325,000 for a five month 
delay. However, this figure has been reviewed to a more likely figure of just over £200,000 with 
further work being undertaken to reduce this if possible. 

In order to underpin the success of the new service, key policies have been formulated around 
household container storage and recycling collections from schools. These have been reviewed by 
the Waste Working Group and will be presented to the Waste Partnership Board. The presentation 
highlights the main points of these and the existing Private Lanes Policy which has been already 
approved by full Council in March 2018. 

The communications strategy has been revised in line with the new start date with a main campaign 
launch in September and individual household communications to take place early in the New Year. 
Members will receive full information packs closer to the time. 

 

Jane Savage 

Head of Contracts & Commissioning 

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate
Strategy
Themes

South Hams
New Recycling Service

P
age 57



Corporate
Strategy
Themes

CONTENTS

• Governance & Planning 

• Start Date Changes & Costs

• Risks

• Policies

• Communications
Environment

“We will increase 
recycling across the 

district”

P
age 58



Partnership Board oversee the project

Key decisions to Executive/Council

Project Team – Project & Communications Plan and Risk Register

External peer review 

Governance and Planning

P
age 59



Timetable changes due to Covid-19

The effects caused by Covid-19 and lockdown impacted the supply chain. 
Despite increased activity, a start date change has become inevitable.

Examined a range of options including:
 Bringing forward/moving backward the start date
 Diverting paper & card from recycling to Plymouth Energy from Waste
 Suspension of garden/food collections over winter

Daily calls with vehicle supplier in Ireland
Daily contact with waste contractor, FCC over depot construction and service
Weekly conference calls with DCC and districts
Constant interaction with container suppliers
Negotiation of haulage/material contracts

JS1

P
age 60



Slide 4

JS1 Jane Savage, 07/07/20

P
age 61



Timetable changes due to Covid-19

 March is ideal time for change

 Aids communications (after Xmas and before Easter and holiday 
season)

 Takes into account effects on budget and major risks

JS1

P
age 62



Slide 5

JS1 Jane Savage, 07/07/20

P
age 63



Implications

• Specific start date of March chosen to take advantage of 

communications opportunity: 

• Maximise customer buy-in which increases recycling and income from credits

• Minimise reputational risk by taking advantage of ‘sweet spot’

• Previously reported worse case scenario costs of around 
£325,000

• Working with suppliers, the contractor and DCC to reduce to  
most likely cost of £209,000 with further work being progressed 
to improve this

P
age 64



Current Major Risks

IT project

Legislative 
changes

Communications Policies

Delivery of over 
200,000 containers 
and information to 

residents

Coronavirus 2nd

wave
Collection day 

changes

P
age 65



Policies
Policy Summary Approved

Schools
Recycling 
Collection

• Same containers as households

• For recycling generated in classrooms only, catering waste is 
classed as trade waste.

• Containers provided for collection purposes only (no internal 
containers for classrooms)

• Removal of brown bins from start of new service

Waste Working Group
consulted in March 2020. 

Set for approval by Waste 
Partnership Board on 29 
July.

Private 
Lanes

As standard, collections will not be made from private lanes unless 
they exhibit the following:

- Adequate surface, width and turning circle to accommodate 26 
tonne vehicle

- Written permission and acceptance of general wear and tear to the 
road from the landowner.

- 10 or more properties on the road

Approved by Full Council in 
March 2018.

P
age 66



Policies (cont.)
Policy Summary Approved

Container 
Storage

Most households can store new recycling containers without issue. A 
small number of properties may need to make reasonable 
adjustments to allow participation in service, such as:

• Storing containers indoors (use one box to save space)
• Carrying containers through property
• Transport/carry recycling to collection point

Property assessments to be undertaken to identify where reasonable 
adjustments can be made and where alternate arrangements may be 
required.

Communal properties will receive the same containers as houses but 
they will be shared. Number of containers will be based on number and 
size of properties.

Waste Working 
Group consulted 
in June 2020. 

Set for approval 
by Waste 
Partnership Board.P

age 67



Weekly Recycling & Food Waste

P
age 68



P
age 69



Non recyclable 
waste

Alternate Weekly Collections

WEEK 1

WEEK 2

P
age 70



Communications Strategy

OnlineOnline

Social MediaSocial Media

WebsiteWebsite

Press releasesPress releases

In PersonIn Person

RoadshowsRoadshows

Community talksCommunity talks

Recycling 
Champions
Recycling 

Champions

Direct to 
households

Direct to 
households
Day change letter 
(where applicable)
Day change letter 
(where applicable)

Info pack mail outInfo pack mail out

Info pack with 
containers

Info pack with 
containers

P
age 71



Campaign Launch September

Liaison with TAPs and community 
groups

July - December

Info pack mail drop January

Container Delivery (with further 
info)

January - February

Service Commencement March

Communications Timeframe

P
age 72



Member resources

Informal 
member 
sessions

Member 
briefing 
notes

FAQs

Bulletin 
updates

Copies of 
information 
to residents

Resources 
for events

P
age 73



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

NOT FOR PUBLICATION 
This report contains exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of part 
1 of schedule 12a to the Local Government Act 1972 (applies to appendix 
A) 
 

 

Report to: 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

Date: 16th July 2020 

Title: ICT Update 

Portfolio Area: Support Services – Councillor N Hopwood 

 

Wards Affected: All 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

  

Author: Mike Ward Role: Head of IT Practice 

Contact: email: mike.ward@swdevon.gov.uk 01803 861310 

 
 
 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION:   

That the Overview & Scrutiny Panel notes the continuous 
improvement and evolution of the Council’s IT platform to meet 
the needs of its ambitious and successful service delivery model. 

 

 
1. Executive summary  
 
 

1.1 This report is an overview of work completed in the IT 
Community of Practice during the previous twelve months as 
part of a continuous programme of work designed to further 
improve the security, resilience, availability and capability of 
the Council’s IT service.  It also highlights improvements in 
the pipeline to be implemented over the year ahead. 
 
 

 
 

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



 

 
2. Background  
 

2.1 The IT Practice is responsible for delivery and support of 
2.1.1 All network infrastructure spanning two principle 

locations and approximately 160 servers. 
2.1.2 Exchange email, Skype for business, Telephony. 
2.1.3 Security hardware, firewalls, anti-virus, anti-malware 

and web filtering. 
2.1.4 Office applications including Civica Workflow360, 

Planning and Environmental Health, Civica Financials, 
Northgate Revenues and Benefits. 

2.1.5 Approximately 400 client devices such as laptops, 
Surface Go’s and iPads. 

2.1.6 Secure remote access to services. 
 

 
3 Outcomes/outputs  

 
3.1 The previous IT resilience report presented to the Overview 

and & Scrutiny panel on 11th July 2019 referenced the 
following work was underway which in now complete:- 
3.1.1 Extending the resilience of Pulse by purchasing an 

additional remote access appliance, in addition we 
have purchased extra concurrent connection licenses 
to reduce the possibility of contention over connections 
to nil (item 3.5 in the report dated 11th July 2019). 

3.1.2 The installation of a new network storage device (item 
3.11). 

3.1.3 The upgrading of the Exchange (email server) 
architecture (item 3.12). 

3.1.4 The Microsoft Office 365 programme has resumed with 
the commissioning of a Microsoft Teams Pilot 
commencing July 2020 (item 3.6). 
 

3.2 Future IT Programme. Councillors will be aware that 
implementation of the Future IT programme is underway.  
The solutions implemented in the Future IT programme are 
the result of many months of assessment and comparison of 
the market coupled with engagement with officers, a   
Member lead working party and Members.  The purpose of 
this work is to replace the existing Civica platform with 
modern solutions which will enable the Council to deliver 
services more effectively and efficiently.  The project status 
is green at the time of writing and members of the IT 
Practice are working on extracting data from the current 
systems then mapping and migrating it to the new ones.  
This is a huge undertaking given the complexity of the 
systems and volumes of documents and data to migrate.  We 
also are currently implementing the new Netcall Lo-code 
platform. The system has already demonstrated its speed 
and flexibility and by bringing forward the go-live date of one 

Page 76



 

area of the solution we were able to rapidly deploy a 
Discretionary Business Grant application and payment 
solution in response to the Covid-19 lockdown.  There is still 
much work to do building processes and configuring 
integrations before we fully release a live system.   This 
month will also see the installation of the new servers for the 
Northgate Assure platform for Planning and Environmental 
Health, and the installation of the Information@Work 
document management software. 
 

3.3 Other Progress to Date 
3.3.1 A solution which enables residents, businesses and 

landlords to “self-serve” requests in the Revenues and 
Benefits system was implemented this year.  Known as 
Citizen Access this system was also enable us to 
implement “e-billing” to residents next year.  Later this 
year we will be implementing a similar solution for 
discretionary housing payments. 

 
3.3.2 Web Accessibility Improvements.  23rd September 

2020 will see the start of enforcement of web 
accessibility standards which came into force for public 
sector bodies on 23rd September 2018.  This means 
we are required to meet the WCAG 2.1 AA standard.  
Currently there are a considerable number of non-
compliance issues to be addressed and in order to help 
officers identify and resolve issues on our website, the 
IT Practice has implemented a solution called Silktide 
which scans all of the pages of our web site and 
summarises where areas need improvement and how 
the issue should be addressed.  It also checks the web 
site for grammar and spelling issues and will help 
greatly to improve the quality and compliance of our 
website.  We have also implemented a product called 
“ReciteMe” on our website which offers language 
translation and audio reciting of web page content. 

 
3.3.3 An additional server for disaster recovery has been 

commissioned at Kilworthy Park enabling us to better 
implement the IT business continuity plan.  In the 
event of loss of systems access at Follaton House, we 
are able to quickly provision the priority systems at 
Kilworthy Park and minimise any impact on Council 
services. 

 
 

3.4 Covid-19 
3.4.1 Whilst supporting remote working is already an 

established solution, Covid-19 brought about a large 
increase in the number of concurrent remote 
connections while officers are working from home.  
Our infrastructure including Pulse VPN, internet links 

Page 77



 

and server capacity enabled us to smoothly meet the 
demands of regularly maintaining 300+ secure 
concurrent remote connections. 
 

3.4.2 In order to accommodate working efficiently and safely 
over a prolonged period of working from home, where 
requested, officers and members have been issued 
with additional screens, keyboards and mice.  Office 
chairs are also available on request. 

 
3.4.3 Remote Council Meetings including full council have 

been successfully held.  The Councils Skype platform 
has supported the requirements of the meetings, 
including video, instant messaging, lobby admission 
and telephone dial-in in a secure environment.  Our 
well established infrastructure, choice of Surface Go 
devices for all members and “in meeting” officer 
assistance, enabled us to become one of the first 
councils in the country to hold full council meetings 
remotely. 
 

3.5 Teams Pilot Commencing July 2020 - Microsoft Teams 
(“Teams”) is a replacement and upgrade to Skype for 
Business which Microsoft intend to eventually phase out. It is 
being commonly adopted by many of the Councils external 
partners and moving to Teams will provide improved 
interoperability with external organisations in addition to the 
following business benefits internally. As well as voice, 
telephony and instant messaging, Teams Improves 
collaboration by providing a single location for project notes, 
documents, team members, messages, and meeting events.  
Teams provides additional security and control for external 
participants to join meetings and enables participation to a 
wider audience who may not have the Teams application 
installed.  Following a successful pilot it is intended to begin 
the rollout of Teams in September 2020. 
 

3.6 Office365 – Following the rollout of Teams, we will begin the 
implementation of Office365. Microsoft Office365 is a 
collection of cloud hosted subscription services delivering 
Office applications such as Word, Excel, PowerPoint, Outlook, 
Teams and a raft of other services including applications such 
as OneDrive (file storage), SharePoint (Intranet), Planner 
(team and task management) and services such as Threat 
Protection (Antivirus), Information Governance (Protective 
Marking), Intune (Device Management, deployment and 
configuration. Office365 will provide much improved 
collaboration capability which will further enhance the 
Council’s effectiveness as we move to a more remote 
oriented workstyle. 

 
 

Page 78



 

3.7 Current Performance 
3.7.1 The Appendix B shows a selection of server uptime 

statistics for main business systems.  Server uptime is 
generally excellent 

 
 
4 Options available and consideration of risk. 

 
4.1 The IT Practice has seen two established members of the 

team retire recently.  Full knowledge transfer to new and 
existing members and successful recruitment planning has 
eliminated any noticeable impact on the service. 

 
4.2 Where risks are identified, they will be entered in the IT and 

corporate risk registers for consideration. 
 
 
5 Proposed Way Forward 

5.1 To continue implementing the programme of improvements 
outlined above. 
 

 
6. Implications  
 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

 

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The Council is required to reach specified standards 
in order to be compliant with General Data 
Protection Regulations. Public Sector Networks 
Code of Connection (PSN) 

Financial 
 

N Future IT Contract award report  

Risk N Service availability, data integrity 
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 
Equality and 
Diversity 
 

Y Web site improvements and compliance. 

Safeguarding 
 

N None   

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

N None 
 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

N Working from home hardware assistance 

Other 
implications 

N None 
 

 

Page 79



 

 
 
Supporting Information 
Future IT contract award. 
http://mg.swdevon.lan/documents/s24025/Future%20IT%20Platform%2
0Contract%20Award.pdf 
 
ICT resilience update 11th July 2019. 
http://mg.swdevon.lan/documents/s22462/ICT%20resilience%2011.07.1
9.pdf 
 
 
Approval and clearance of report 
 
 
Appendices: 
A: IT Security (exempt); and 
B: Server Uptime Statistics 
 

Page 80



Document is Restricted

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix B: Server Uptime Statistics 
 

 
 
This report measures the availability of the Civica W2 and document management 
system. 
 
 

 
 
This report measures the availability of the Civica APP system. 
 
 
 
 

 
Northgate Revs and Benefits. Down time is between 2:00 am and 4:00 am for 
backing up databases. 
 
 

 
 
This report measures the availability of the Civica Financials System 
 

Page 83



 

 
 
 
The percentage uptime values include times when systems are 
taken down for backups or scheduled restarts.  Within the context 
of a working day, uptime is greater than the values published. 

Page 84



Report to: Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

Date: 16 July 2020 

Title: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 

Portfolio Area: N/A 

Wards Affected: All Wards 

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y  

Date next steps can be taken: 
(e.g. referral on of recommendation or 
implementation of substantive decision) 

 

Any 
recommendations 
will be presented 
to the Council 
Meeting to be 
held on 24 
September 2020 

Author: Darryl White Role: Democratic Services 
Manager 

Contact: darryl.white@swdevon.gov.uk  

 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Panel RECOMMEND to Council that the Annual Report 
for 2019/20 be approved. 

1.  Executive summary  
1.1 It is a constitutional requirement for the Overview and Scrutiny 

Panel to report annually to full Council on its workings and make 
recommendations for future work programmes and amended 
working methods (if appropriate); 
 

1.2 As a consequence, the Panel’s draft Annual Report is presented at 
Appendix A.  
 

2.  Background  
2.1 The last financial year has been one of significant change for the 

Council and the Panel has played a key role during this year in 
taking stock of the key issues, successes and challenges that have 
been met by the Council and how these have been addressed.   

 
 
 
 

Page 85

Agenda Item 10



3. Options available and consideration of risk  
3.1 Not only is it a constitutional requirement for the Overview and 

Scrutiny Panel to produce an Annual Report, but it is also 
recognised as being good practice to do so.    

 
3.2 Whilst an alternative to the report could be a verbal report from the 

Chairman of the Panel, it is considered more appropriate to have a 
formal written document that is accessible to the public and 
published on the Council website. 

 
4. Proposed Way Forward  
4.1 It is proposed that the contents of the Report be approved. 

 
4.2 Members’ views on the presentation and content of the report 

would be helpful to inform and shape future Annual Reports. 
 
5.  Implications  
 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y The production of an Annual Overview and Scrutiny 
Report is a requirement of the Council Constitution. 

Financial 
 

N There are no financial implications directly arising 
from this report. 

Risk Y There are no risk implications directly arising from 
this report. 

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy 

 The Annual Report has been set out in accordance 
with each of the themes that underpin the Council’s 
Corporate Strategy. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
Equality and 
Diversity 

 There are no equality and diversity implications 
directly arising from this report. 

Safeguarding 
 

 There are no safeguarding implications directly 
arising from this report. 

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 There are no community safety or crime and 
disorder implications directly arising from this report. 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 There are no health, safety or wellbeing implications 
directly arising from this report. 

Other 
implications 

 The publication of this Annual Report may help 
understanding and raise the profile of the Council’s 
Overview and Scrutiny function. 

 
Supporting Information 
 
Appendices: 
A: The Draft Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 
 
 

Page 86



Background Papers: 
- The Council Constitution; and 
- Overview and Scrutiny Panel agendas and minutes from the 2019/20 

Municipal Year. 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Published July 2019

www.southhams.gov.uk

2019 - 2020

Overview and Scrutiny
Annual Report 

Page 89



2

South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

Foreword from the  
Panel Chairman

I am pleased to present the Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report for the work undertaken between 
May 2019 and April 2020. 

At the beginning of the year, there was a significant change to the membership 
of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel. Following the elections held in May 
2019 the Panel membership comprised ten new councillors and only three 
councillors who had previous experience of its function and procedures. The 
training offered to Members proved valuable in helping them to undertake 
the challenge of scrutinising the work and performance of the Council with 
dedication and commitment.

The report includes a summary of the role and responsibilities of Overview and 
Scrutiny, the work undertaken over the past year and the various outcomes. 
It has been a busy year for Panel members overviewing and scrutinising the 
services carried out or provided by the Council. A broad range of topics was 
addressed and as a result, recommendations were put forward for action by 
the Council. The topics scrutinised and the outcomes are set out in this report. 

Just prior to end of the Municipal Year the work of the Panel was curtailed for 
a short period due to the COVID-19 Pandemic. The Council faces a challenging 
time ahead especially on the financial front and the Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel will play its part in ensuring that the Council carries out its functions in an 
effective and efficient manner in difficult conditions.

It was a challenging year for members and I would like to thank all of them for 
their commitment and the contribution they made to the meetings and also 
the work and support of Cllr Peter Smerdon, the Vice Chair of the Panel.

I would also like to thank the Council officers for their support and hard 
work in facilitating the Overview and Scrutiny process and special mention 
goes to Steve Mullineaux of the Senior Leadership Team and Darryl White of 
Democratic Services.

I hope you find the report interesting. 

Cllr John Birch

Cllr John Birch

Chairman of  
South Hams  

District Council  
Overview and  
Scrutiny Panel

South Hams  
District Council 

Member for Totnes

Page 90



3

South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

Introduction

We are pleased to present the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 
which outlines our work during the 2019-20 Municipal Year and which 
provides general information on the overview and scrutiny function at 
South Hams District Council.

Overview and Scrutiny is a key part of the democratic 
decision-making process in local councils, where 
Panel Members can contribute to shaping Council 
policy, community wellbeing and accountability. The 
Panel does this by: reviewing Council services and 
policies, community issues and key decisions and 
making recommendations for improvement.

The four key principles of Overview and Scrutiny are:

 

 Provides a ‘critical friend’ challenge to 
executive policy makers and decision-makers;

 

 Enables the voice and concerns of the public to 
be heard;

 

 Is carried out by ‘independent minded Members’ 
who lead and own the scrutiny role; and

 

 Drives improvement in public services.

The Panel Members consider these principles when 
selecting topics to investigate whether it is holding 
the Executive to account, reviewing policies,  
policy development or the scrutiny of  
external bodies.

The Council recognises the importance of the 
overview and scrutiny function in its governance 
arrangements and officer support. 

The Council’s governance arrangements specify 
that all 31 Members of the Council are considered 
to be either an Executive Member (of which there 
are 6); a Development Management Committee 
Specialist Member (of which there are 12); or an 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel Specialist Member  
(of which there are 13).

The lead officers supporting the Panel for 2019/20 
were the Council’s Deputy Chief Executive and the 
Senior Specialist – Democratic Services.

Page 91



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

Panel Membership

4

In May 2019, the residents of 
the South Hams elected 15 
new Members to serve on 
South Hams District Council. 
This resulted in 10 newly 
elected Members being 
appointed to serve on the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

Whilst the Overview and Scrutiny 
function was a prominent feature 
of the Council’s Member Induction 
Programme, at its first formal Panel 
meeting, Members were presented 
with (and ultimately supported) the 
‘Statutory Guidance on Overview 
and Scrutiny in Local and Combined 
Authorities’ that had recently been 
produced by the MHCLG (Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government). 

The Panel membership for  
2019/20 was:

Cllr John Birch  
Chairman

Cllr Peter Smerdon 
Vice-Chairman

Cllr Lance Austen

Cllr Matthew 
Chown

Cllr Susan 
Jackson

Cllr John McKay

Cllr Joseph Rose Cllr Barrie Spencer Cllr Jo Sweett Cllr Dan Thomas

Cllr Denise 
O’Callaghan

Cllr Trevor 
Pennington

Cllr Helen Reeve

Page 92



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

Litter

3300

Litter

SSTTOOPP

PPUUBB

Food

Food
Inspector

South Hams Street 96

BOTTLE

The role of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel

Overview and Scrutiny is a key part of the Council’s political structure and it 
plays a vital role in improving the services that people of the District use – 
whether a resident, employed here or just visiting. Overview and Scrutiny does 
not just look at the way the Council does things, it can look at anything which 
affects the lives of people within the District and it allows citizens to have a 
greater say in Council matters.

Overview and Scrutiny allows Members to review 
and scrutinise decisions, look at existing practices 
and make recommendations to help ensure the 
residents of the South Hams receive excellent 
services. The overall aim is to ensure overview 
and scrutiny adds value to the Council’s decision-
making process and makes a positive contribution 
towards policy development.

The detailed terms of reference and procedure 
rules for the Overview and Scrutiny Panel can be 
found at: Part 2 – Article 5; Part 3 – Delegation 
Scheme; and Part 4 – Rules of Procedure of the 
Council Constitution. The Council Constitution can 
be accessed via the following link:

www.southhams.gov.uk/
article/3689/Our-Constitution

5

Page 93



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

ENVIRONMENT
Protecting, conserving

and enhancing our
built and natural

environment

COUNCIL

Delivering
efficient and 
effective services

ENTERPRISE

Creating places for
enterprise to thrive
and business to grow

Council and residents
working together to

create strong and
empowered communities

COMMUNITIES

Supporting positive,
safe and healthy

lifestyles and helping
those most in need

WELLBEING

HOMES

Enabling homes
that meet the
needs of all

6

Agenda Items –  
Corporate Strategy
The Overview and Scrutiny Panel met formally on seven 
separate occasions during the 2019/20 Municipal Year. 

In addition, the Panel met jointly with the Development Management Committee on 
one occasion to consider the draft Revenue and Capital Budget Proposals for 2020/21.

In considering its work programme, the Panel gave great emphasis to the Council’s 
Corporate Strategy and the six strategic themes, which are shown in the image 
alongside this text.

The Panel has consequently received a number of reports (and made a number of 
recommendations) which are linked to these strategic themes. Whilst it is acknowledged 
that a number of these cut across a number of these themes, for the purpose of this 
Annual Report, they are aligned to the theme that is considered the most relevant:

Page 94



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

7

HOMES Enabling homes that meet  
 the needs of all

Action 18/19 Progress

Planning Enforcement 
Plan Review

The Panel conducted a pre-Scrutiny review of the Planning Enforcement Plan and 
proceeded to make the following recommendations to the Executive and Council:

1. To approve the updated: Enforcement Plan; Harm Assessment Matrix and 
Enforcement Action Plan;

2. That two additional permanent members of staff be approved to be funded 
from the Planning Enforcement Reserve in 2019/20 and to be built into the 
Budget Setting process as a cost pressure for 2020/21; and

3. That Members receive notification of each Planning Enforcement Case (once 
it has been registered) within their local ward alongside its priority rating.

Each of these recommendations were subsequently approved by either the 
Executive or Council.

Homelessness 
Strategy Action Plan 
2018/19

The Panel considered and recommended that the Executive adopt the 
Homelessness Strategy Action Plan for 2019/20 and the South Hams and 
West Devon Rough Sleeper Strategy for 2019/22. In addition, the Panel also 
recommended that, once adopted, copies of these documents be sent to Town 
and Parish Council Clerks with an explanatory note of the relevant services (and 
officer contact details) that are provided by the Council.

Formation of a Wholly 
Owned Company

The Panel received assurances that the principal activity of any proposal to form 
a Wholly Owned Company would be to build genuinely affordable housing for 
local people.

Housing Report A series of proposals were presented to the Panel that would ultimately help the 
Council to shape its emerging Housing Strategy.

After detailed consideration, the Panel noted with concern:

1. the rise in recorded local Housing Need;
2. that levels of fuel poverty in the South Hams were currently above the 

national average;
3. the average house prices in the South Hams were currently 13 times the 

average salary; and
4. that rental levels were often higher than Local Housing Allowance Rates.

and, in order to address these concerns, the Panel supported the proposals 
to engage positively and help shape the emerging Housing Strategy and the 
principle of an interventionalist approach in the market.

Pre-Application 
Process

Members gave consideration to a report that presented the draft pre-application 
process and RECOMMENDED that:

The draft pre-application process be approved, subject to inclusion of the 
following revisions:

1. replacement of the word ‘we’ with the term ‘the Council’;
2. move the definitions from the end to the beginning of the Policy; and
3. expand upon reference to ‘disclosures’ in the Policy.

Page 95



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

8

ENTERPRISE Creating places for enterprise to thrive  
 and business to grow

Action 18/19 Progress

Investing in 
Kingsbridge

Prior to its consideration by the Executive, the Panel requested a pre-Scrutiny 
review of this agenda item.

Whilst a number of specific points were raised for the onward consideration 
by the Executive, the Panel welcomed the assurances that it received for close 
working with both Kingsbridge Town Council and local residents.

Commercial 
Investment Strategy

Before being presented to the Special Council meeting on 25 July 2019, the Panel 
received an update on a proposal to revise the Strategy to take advantage of 
opportunities from outside of the South Hams area to invest in renewable energy 
generation assets.

Upon the conclusion of the update, the Panel informed of its broad support for 
the recommendation to amend the Strategy.

Assets Register Following consideration of the Council’s Assets Register, the Panel asked that a 
series of Drop-in Sessions for local Ward Members be arranged with the intention 
being to consider the Assets Register in more detail before being forwarded to 
Town and Parish Council Clerks for their information and reference.

Capital Assets Projects The Deputy Leader provided an update to the Panel on the implications on 
proposed Capital Assets Projects of the unexpected rise in the Public Works Loan 
Board rates.

Town Centres Strategy Members requested a report that provided an update on the progress that had 
been made on the Council’s Town Centre Strategy.

The Panel was of the view that there was a need for added emphasis to be 
applied to the Strategy and the following resolution was approved:

1. That four separate meetings (per Cluster area) be arranged with local Ward 
Members to discuss possible initiatives that could be prioritised in each local 
Cluster area; and

2. That Option 3 (namely that the Council could ‘take a more active role in 
promoting, leading and delivering change in the community. This might 
be achieved by a lead Officer / Officers and Members dedicating additional 
time to convening meetings, assessing opportunities and creating working 
groups / task and finish groups to deliver against the agenda’) be fully costed 
and presented to the draft 2020/21 Budget Setting Workshop on Thursday, 7 
November 2019.

Page 96



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

9

COUNCIL Delivering efficient and  
 effective services

Action 18/19 Progress

IT System Update 
and Resilience

At its first formal meeting for 2019/20, the Panel considered a report that provided an 
update on the IT systems issues that had been experienced by Members since their 
Election and presented an outline plan for reducing the impact of future issues.

The Panel proceeded to RESOLVE that:

1. the IT Head of Practice be requested to consider the best methods and 
frequency for communicating system outages and resolution times to Members;

2. the IT Head of Practice be asked to note the concerns raised by Members 
and ensure that these are highlighted in the IT Resilience report that is to be 
presented to the Panel meeting on 11 July 2019; and

3. all Members be encouraged to have the ‘Blackberry Client’ application installed 
on their mobile phones.

At its next meeting, the Panel also considered an IT Resilience update report on 
both the work that had been completed to date and the proposed further service 
improvements and noted its contents.

Peer Challenge 
Action Plan

In considering the latest version of the Peer Challenge Action Plan, the Panel noted 
the progress made to date and asked for the next update to include more in-depth 
information around the perception of backbench Members that they still felt 
excluded from the decision-making process.

Corporate 
Strategy

The Panel considered a report that provided an update on the Council’s progress 
made to date on refining its Corporate Strategy. The Panel also recommended to 
the Executive that targets be provided to the Panel that are based upon the SMART 
(Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant and Time-bound) principles and include 
the following additional subject areas:

- Climate Change;

- Electric Vehicle Charging Points; and

- Planning Enforcement.

Brexit – Main 
Risk Areas to 
the Council 
and Future 
Communication 
Strategy to 
Members

The Deputy Chief Executive provided a verbal update to the Panel on Brexit. 
Having received this update, the Panel was of the view that future Brexit related 
communications to Members should be undertaken via a regular ‘Brexit Briefing 
Note’.

Page 97



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

Information 
Commissioner’s 
Office Procedure

In light of concerns arising from a recent Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) 
decision, the Panel considered a report that presented Guidance on the ICO 
Procedure and proceeded to RECOMMEND to Council that:

‘The following procedure be adopted to inform Members and the public of decisions 
made by the ICO in relation to requests for information:

1. That the Council takes the necessary steps to publish on a quarterly basis details 
relating to the number of requests handled by the Council and the decisions 
taken in relation to those requests in accordance with the Section 45 Code of 
Practice;

2. That the Council reviews its Publication Scheme in the light of requests for 
information it receives annually;

3. When the Council is advised by the ICO that a request has been referred to it, the 
Leader and relevant lead Executive Member be notified and, if the matter relates 
to a planning issue, the local Ward Members are also notified. For non-planning 
issues, the Deputy Monitoring Officer will determine on a case by case basis 
whether it could be disclosed to local Ward Members;

4. That all Members be notified with a copy of the Decision Notice when it is 
received, in addition to it being published on the Council website and the matter 
will be reported to the Overview and Scrutiny Panel; and

5. That, when an ICO decision recommends that further action is taken by the 
Council, the Freedom Of Information Officer will ensure that the relevant 
officer takes the action on behalf of the Council or seeks the agreement of the 
Monitoring Officer if they wish to challenge the Decision.’

Accommodation 
Strategy Updates

To monitor the progress being made by the Accommodation Strategy Working 
Group, the Panel received two updates during 2019/20. During these updates, 
specific reference was made to:

- The ability for any Member of the Council to attend meetings of the Working 
Group; and

- The fact that a report that presented an interim set of Working Group 
recommendations was to be presented to the Executive meeting to be held on 
19 March 2020.

10

Page 98



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

Fees and Charges 
2020/21

The Panel considered the setting of Fees and Charges for 2020/21 and recommended 
to the Council (via the Executive) that:-

1. the proposed fees and charges set out for Parks, Open Spaces and Outdoor 
Sports be approved;

2. the proposed Environmental Health Charges be approved;

3. the proposed unchanged Fees and Charges for Development Management be 
approved;

4. delegated authority be given to the Director of Place and Enterprise, in 
consultation with the lead Executive Member, to set the Dartmouth Lower Ferry 
Fees to take account of market conditions, including competitor charges;

5. charges be introduced for the use of the existing electric charging points at 
Follaton House;

6. delegated authority be given to the Commissioning Manager for Waste and 
Head of Practice Lead for Waste, in consultation with the lead Executive Member 
for Environment, to set the Commercial Waste Fees and Charges;

7. the proposed changes to Boat Storage Charges be approved;

8. the proposed ‘Proof of Life’ charges be approved and introduced with 
immediate effect;

9. the proposed changes to S257 Footpath Diversion Orders charges be approved 
with immediate effect; and

10. delegated authority be given to the Section 151 Officer and the lead Executive 
Member to set the Local Land Charges fees on a cost recovery basis. 

Locality Service 
Update

Members acknowledged that a formal service review had not been carried out since 
establishment of the Locality Service in 2015. As a result, the Panel established a Task 
and Finish Group to review the role of the Locality Service.

Due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, the Group was not able to present its concluding 
report during the 2019/20 Municipal Year and this matter would be revisited during 
the 2020/21 Year. 

Pay and Display 
Machine Update

An update on the actions that had been taken into researching alternative Machine 
providers was presented to the Panel.

In conclusion, the Panel was supportive of the officer view that the Council should 
continue its working relationship with Metric unless performance gives rise for 
concern, at which point officers will again evaluate alternative options. 

Ombudsman 
Annual Review 
Letter 2019

The Committee reviewed the Ombudsman Annual Letter for 2019 and welcomed the 
improved performance in respect of dealing with customer complaints. In particular, 
Members were assured that the Council was reviewing (and taking learning points) 
from each complaint received.

11

Page 99



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

Revenue Budget 
Proposals for 
2020/21

The joint meeting of the Panel and Development Management Committee 
considered the Revenue Budget Proposals for 2020/21 and recommended to the 
Council (via the Executive) that support be given to:

1. the increase in Council Tax for 2020/21 of £5 (Band D of £170.42 for 2020/21 – an 
increase of 10 pence per week or £5 per year – equating to a 3.02% increase);

2. the financial pressures amounting to £1,578,640 (as shown in Appendix A of the 
presented agenda report);

3. the net contributions to/from Earmarked Reserves amounting to £63,243 (as 
shown in Appendix D of the presented agenda report);

4. the proposed savings of £959,477 for 2020/21 (as shown in Appendix A of the 
presented agenda report);

5. the proposed funding levels (as set out in section 2.38 of the presented agenda 
report), subject to the reinstatement of the £10,000 funding to the South Hams 
CVS;

6. the proposed use of £509,543 of New Homes Bonus funding to balance the 
2020/21 Revenue Budget (as shown in Section 2.25 of the presented agenda 
report); 

7. the use of £400,000 of New Homes Bonus funding to set up an Emergency 
Climate Change projects Earmarked Reserve; and

8. the inclusion of an Economy Officer post (shared with West Devon Borough 
Council within the staffing establishment as set out in Section 1.7 of the 
presented agenda report), subject to the Executive being in receipt of a draft Job 
Description and the associated outcomes and targets for the role.

Capital Budget 
Proposals for 
2020-21

The joint meeting also considered the Capital Budget Proposals for 2020/21 and 
recommended to the Council (via the Executive) that support be given to:

1. the content of the Capital Programme Proposals for 2020/21 that totals 
£2,480,000 be supported;

2. the content of the Capital Programme Proposals for 2020/21 that totals 
£1,250,000 be supported; and

3. the proposed financing of the 2020/21 Capital Programme of £3,730,000 from 
the funding sources (as set out in Section 4 of the presented agenda report) be 
supported.

Peer Challenge 
Progress Update

A report was presented that provided the Panel with an overview of the progress 
that had been made to date against the approved Peer Challenge Action Plan.

The Panel concluded that the progress made to date on the delivery of the Peer 
Challenge Action Plan should be noted and the proposal to bring forward the Local 
Government Association interim review to ensure a solid baseline for the new Chief 
Executive should be supported.

12

Page 100



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

13

Member 2019 
Induction Review

The Panel considered the findings of the short survey into the 2019 Member 
Induction Programme and were generally very positive in their feedback on the 
Programme.

Having suggested some minor improvements to future Induction Programmes it 
was then:

RESOLVED

1. That the contents of the review into the 2019 Member Induction Programme 
be noted and the conclusions be taken into account in the design of future 
Programmes; and

2. That the Annual Work Programme be updated to include consideration of the 
draft 2023 Member Induction Programme.

Development 
Management 
– Performance 
Update

Having considered the performance update on the Development Management 
service, the Panel expressed some concerns over the staffing position that had been 
identified in the report. Such was the depth of concern, that the Panel requested a 
verbal update on the position at its next meeting. 

In light of the COVID-19 Pandemic, the following meeting was cancelled and this 
update has been rolled over to the 2020/21 Panel Work Programme. 

Operational 
Performance

The Panel considered a report that presented the latest operational performance 
information and noted the outcome report. Members also supported the approach 
to receiving theme-based reports in the future and requested that the ‘Council 
Efficiency’ theme be presented to the Panel first.

COMMUNITIES Council and residents working together  
 to create strong empowered communities

Action 18/19 Progress

Partnership 
Funding Levels 
2020/21

In advance of being presented to the Executive, the lead Executive Member advised 
that the report would be seeking adoption of a ‘Commissioning Model’ based 
approach to award partnership funding for a three year period (instead of the 
current process of reviewing annually). The Panel was also advised that it was to be 
recommended that future funding decisions would be based upon one (or all) of the 
following:

- Local need;

- Alignment to the Council’s Corporate Strategy; and

- Statutory Duty.

Customer 
Satisfaction 
Quarterly Updates

The Panel discussion focused on improvements to the Council website. In particular, 
Members welcomed the recruitment of a designated website officer and were 
encouraged to put forward local volunteers to help to review the effectiveness of the 
current website.

Page 101



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

Litter

3300

Litter

SSTTOOPP

PPUUBB

Food

Food
Inspector

South Hams Street 96

BOTTLE

14

Customer 
Satisfaction 
Survey

The Panel considered a report that provided an update on the scores achieved by 
the Council as part of a recent Institute of Customer Service Customer Satisfaction 
Benchmark Survey.

In noting the results, the Panel also recommended that the Executive approve 
actions that were contained within the presented agenda report that were headed 
as follows:

- Customer Service Improvement Manager;

- Complaint Handling Review;

- Staff Meetings, Performance Monitoring and Training;

- IT Procurement and Improvement;

- Continued Surveying; and

- Progress Reporting.

WELLBEING Supporting positive, safe and healthy lifestyles  
 and helping those most in need

Action 18/19 Progress

Food Safety 
Service Plan

The Panel received and approved the Food Safety Service Plan for 2019/20, subject 
to a six-monthly progress report being presented back that made reference to 
opportunities available to the service to increase income and the areas identified for 
improvement and future development.

In receiving the six-month progress update, the Panel expressed its support for the 
progress that had been made on the Service Plan.

Page 102



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

Fusion Leisure 
Update and 
Feedback on their 
Cashless Project

Representatives from Fusion Leisure were invited to a Panel meeting to outline their 
cashless project proposals. During their presentation, the representatives expressed 
their apologies to Members for the late notification and the poor communication 
strategy that had prompted the agenda update.

The Panel concluded that a Task and Finish Group should be established to 
undertake a review of the relationship between Fusion and local South Hams 
communities, with a concluding report being presented to the Panel a month before 
the Fusion Annual Report was considered.

The Task and Finish Group Outcome report was presented to the Panel at its meeting 
held on 23 January 2020. The Panel supported each of the recommendations arising 
from the Review and were particularly appreciative of the conclusion that the Review 
had helped to improve the working relationship between the Council and Fusion.

When presenting the Annual Report to the Panel meeting held on 27 February 2020, 
Fusion representatives reinforced the positivity of the Task and Finish Group review 
and the consequent improved working relationship. At the end of the debate into 
the Annual Report, the Panel resolved that:

1. Fusion be thanked for its 2019 Annual Report and representatives be asked to 
take action on the Member issues that were raised at the meeting;

2. Fusion Lifestyle representatives be requested to provide a further report in six 
months’ time specifically on the progress being made on their sustainability / 
environmental obligations; and

3. All Members be given advanced notice from Fusion of the rationale behind any 
proposed changes in leisure prices.

Council Tax 
Reduction 
Scheme 2020/21

A report was presented to the Panel that sought to recommend to the Executive that 
the Scheme was working satisfactorily and did not require any amendments to be 
made. Following a debate, the Panel supported this proposal.

Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) 
– Annual Report

In line with statutory requirements, the Panel considered its annual update from the 
CSP and raised a number of issues that were to be taken forward. In their concluding 
comments, Panel Members resolved that ‘the contents of the Annual Report be 
welcomed and an all Member Workshop be convened in January 2020.’

Safeguarding 
Policy

The Panel considered a report that sought to provide an opportunity to annually 
scrutinise and review Safeguarding practices and procedures.

The Panel then RESOLVED that:

1. they continue to formally review safeguarding on an annual basis;

2. the Executive be RECOMMENDED to adopt the revised Safeguarding Policy (as 
outlined at Appendix A of the presented agenda report); and

3. the Executive be RECOMMENDED to instruct officers to undertake a viability 
study regarding the merits of DBS checks for all Members, with the outcome of 
this study being reported back to a future Overview and Scrutiny Panel meeting.

15

Page 103



South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

16

ENVIRONMENT Protecting, conserving and enhancing  
 our built and natural environment

Action 18/19 Progress

Climate Change Climate Change was a prominent agenda item for the Panel during 2019/20. This 
was reflected in the number of related public questions that were received on the 
Climate Change and Biodiversity agenda (as highlighted later in this Annual Report). 
Issues raised by the Panel included:

- points of clarity before the Council considered a recommendation to declare a 
Climate Change and Biodiversity Emergency and develop an Action Plan;

- a verbal update on the work of the Devon Climate Emergency Response Group 
(DCERG);

- an opportunity to consider the Citizens’ Assembly proposal prior to it being 
considered (and determined) by Full Council;

- the following Panel Resolution:

1. That the lead officer be requested to make representations to the Devon Climate 
Emergency Response Group calling for South Hams District Council Members 
to be able to attend the ‘Call for Evidence’ Themed Hearing at Follaton House;

2. That the Panel expresses its concerns over the lack of information that 
had been received from Devon County Council in relation to its Citizens 
Assembly proposal; and

3. That the Climate Change and Biodiversity Working Group be 
RECOMMENDED that the draft Climate Change Action Plan should attempt 
to address the dangers that Climate Change poses including, but not limited 
to, extreme weather events such as flood and drought. In cases where 
elements are outside its remit, the Council should aim to communicate with 
(and work alongside) those who are responsible for those elements.

Waste 
Procurement 
Closedown Report

The Panel noted the contents of a report that provided an overview of the Waste 
Procurement project that detailed the successes, lessons learnt and the realisation of 
any immediate benefits.

Electric Car 
Charging Points – 
Update

An update was given to the Panel on the strategy for the installation of Electric 
Charging Points in Council Car Parks.

The Panel subsequently RESOLVED that:

1. the update report, in respect of the Strategy for the installation of Electric 
Charging Points in Council Car Parks, be welcomed, with the exception of the 
concerns raised over the project installation date of 2022; and

2. a further update report be presented to the Panel meeting on 23 April 2020 that 
focuses on:

- The lobbying to be undertaken on bringing the completion date forward; and

- The costs associated with procuring and installing Charging Points in all 
Council owned Car Parks. 

(In light of the COVID-19 Pandemic, the Panel meeting was cancelled on 23 April 
2020 and it is envisaged that the further update report will be presented to the Panel 
during the 2020/21 Municipal Year). 

Page 104



17

South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

Agenda Items –  
Public Forum
In line with its openness and transparency agenda, the Council has adopted 
provision for the Overview and Scrutiny Panel to set aside 15 minutes at the 
start of each meeting to enable members of the public to raise issues and/or 
questions in line with its Procedure Rules. 

During 2019/20, the Panel was presented with 14 questions/issues for 
consideration that focused on the following issues:

 

 assessing the viability of a 2030 target for 
achieving carbon neutrality in the Council’s 
Climate Action Plan. In response, the 
questioner was directed to the Special Council 
meeting that was to be held on 25 July 2019 
at which an Executive recommendation to 
address this matter was to be considered;

 

 the public consultation on the Council’s 
Climate Action Plan. Assurances were given 
in the response that both local residents 
and expert organisations would have the 
opportunity to be involved in the formulation 
of the Plan;

 
 working in partnership with Teignbridge 

District Council (TDC) on the production of 
a Climate Action Plan. The questioner was 
informed that, where beneficial to do so, the 
Council would continue to work closely with 
TDC and other partners;

 

 the emphasis to be given by the Executive to 
the need to reduce local Carbon Emissions 
when taking future decisions on: Renewable 
Energy Investment, Electric Vehicle Charging 
Points, the Air Quality Action Plan and the 
future development of Langage Energy Park. In 
her reply, the Leader of Council confirmed that 

carbon emissions (and their reduction) would 
be one of many factors considered and taken 
into account by the Executive as part of its 
decision-making processes;

 

 whether or not the Council had consulted its 
employees on their views about the ethics 
and potential financial risks of investing their 
pension funds in Fossil Fuel industries. The 
response advised that the Devon Pension 
Fund’s current approach was to manage the 
risks in relation to Climate Change and to 
promote change through engagement with 
companies rather than through disinvestment;

 

 methods to ensure that the Plymouth and 
South West Devon Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) fully accorded with the 
emerging Climate Action Plans for the South 
Hams and for Devon. The questioner was 
advised that the SPD would provide detailed 
guidance on how the policies in the adopted 
Joint Local Plan (e.g. the requirement for 
developers to implement low carbon building 
techniques and to enable the provision of 
local renewable energy projects) would be 
implemented;

Page 105



18

South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

 

 the progress made in exploring opportunities 
for investing in Solar Photovoltaic Panels over 
Council owned car parks and other assets. In 
response, it was confirmed that a meeting 
had been held with an organisation that was 
able to offer the provision of Solar PV Panels 
across the Council’s Estate. The organisation 
concluded that the Council’s rental properties 
were unviable for any provision and that 
Follaton House was already well provisioned. 
Also, investigations into Council owned car 
parks were ongoing and there was felt to be 
potential scope with the Council’s Leisure 
Centre buildings;

 

 the level of support that the Council would 
offer to Town and Parish Councils who wished 
to draw up their own Climate Action Plans. The 
questioner was subsequently advised that the 
Council was taking the following steps:

 

 setting up a website that would be 
populated with Plans, a carbon footprint 
calculator and a blog page for groups to 
exchange their views; and

 

 convening a joint Council / Devon County 
Council Annual Consultation Event with 
town and parish council representatives 
that would include an open discussion on 
Climate Change.

 

 the measurable indicators of biodiversity levels 
that would be used by the Council. The Leader 
informed that the indicators had not been 
determined at the time of the Panel meeting;

 
 the obstacles that could obstruct delivery of an 

effective local Climate Action Plan. In response, 
the questioner was advised that the list of 
potential obstacles was still to be finalised 
and, to overcome them (once identified), one 
course of action would be to lobby Central 
Government;

 

 whether or not the Council’s current electric 
vehicle charging points used electricity from 
100% renewable suppliers. The questioner was 
advised that, at this stage, not all electricity 
was sourced from 100% renewable energy 
suppliers. However, the importance of the 
Council reducing the footprint of its energy 
purchases was recognised;

 

 working with other neighbouring local 
authorities to develop the Climate Change 
and Biodiversity Action Plan. In response, the 
Leader of Council advised that the Council 
was working with a range of organisations 
including: Torbay, Plymouth, Teignbridge and 
Dartmoor National Park, primarily through the 
development of the Devon Carbon Plan;

 

 the scrutiny undertaken to date on the 
Climate Change and Biodiversity Action Plan. 
In response to the question, the Member 
involvement prior to the Plan being presented 
to the Council was outlined to the questioner;

 
 concerns over the proposal to reduce the 

funding allocated by the Council to the South 
Hams Community and Voluntary Service (CVS). 

Page 106



19

South Hams District Council - Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019-20

Standards Update and 
Governance Matters
In accordance with the Council Constitution, the Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
is responsible for monitoring complaints (including Ombudsman complaints 
and those against Members alleging a breach of the Code of Conduct) and for 
the standards responsibilities under the Localism Act.

As part of these responsibilities, the Panel has considered during 2019/20:

General Dispensations to Members

The Panel considered a report that sought approval 
to grant the General Dispensations that were set 
out in the presented agenda report and RESOLVED 
that, from the Annual Council meeting in 2020 
to the Annual Council meeting in 2023, the Panel 
grant General Dispensations to allow all Members 
of Council to speak and vote where they would 
otherwise have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 
the following matters:

 

 Housing: where a Member (or spouse / partner) 
holds a tenancy or lease with the Council as 
long as the matter does not relate to 
the Member’s particular tenancy or 
lease;

 

 Statutory Sick Pay: if a Member receives 
this or is entitled to receive it;

 

 An Allowance, travelling expense, 
payment or indemnity for Members;

 

 Any ceremonial honour given to 
Members; and

 

 Setting the Council Tax or a Precept

Multi or dual-hatted Council Members also have a 
General Dispensation to speak and vote on matters 
where they are a Member of another local authority 
and in receipt of a Members’ Allowance from that 
other local authority, except where a conflict exists 
between South Hams District Council and Devon 
County Council Cabinet Members.

Page 107



20

The 2020-21  
Work Programme
The Overview and Scrutiny Panel has the ability to set its own annual work 
programme and it is acknowledged that sufficient flexibility is built in to enable 
for items to be included at short notice.

However, at the time of preparing this Annual Report, the following substantive agenda items have already 
been rolled over to the 2020/21 Work Programme:

 

 Locality Service Review (Task and Finish Group Review)

 

 Food Safety Annual Service Plan;

 

 Waste Contract Monitoring Report

 

 Community Safety Partnership – Annual Report;

 

 Safeguarding – Annual Report;

 

 Draft Amended Budget Proposals 2020/21 and Draft Budget Proposals 2021/22  
(joint meetings with the Development Management Committee);

 

 COVID-19 Draft Recovery Plan (joint meeting with the Development Management Committee);

 

 Electric Charging Points – Update on Lobbying and Project Costs;

 

 Sustainable Community Locality Fund – Expenditure and Process;

 

 ‘Council Efficiency’ theme – performance report;

 
 Annual O+S Report for 2019/20;

 
 IT Resilience Annual Report;

 

 Fusion Leisure – Six-Month and Annual Report;

 

 Homelessness Strategy Action Plan – Annual Update;

 

 2021/22 Fees and Charges; and

 

 Ombudsman Annual Letter.

Page 108



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL 
 

DRAFT ANNUAL WORK PROGRAMME – 2020/21  
 
 

Date of Meeting Report 
 

Lead Officer 

   
3 September 2020 
(joint meeting with 
DM Committee) 

Executive Forward Plan Janice Young 
Recovery and Renewal Plan (am) Drew Powell 

 Amended Budget 2020/21 (pm) Lisa Buckle 
   
8 October 2020 Executive Forward Plan 

- Housing Strategy 
Janice Young 
Issy Blake 

 Waste Contract Monitoring Report Jane Savage 
 Task and Finish Group Updates (if any)  
   
   
19 November 2020 Executive Forward Plan Janice Young 
 Task and Finish Group Updates (if any)  
 Community Safety Partnership: Annual Report Louisa Daley 
 Safeguarding: Annual Report Louisa Daley 
 Fees and Charges 2021/22 Lisa Buckle 
 Ombudsman Annual Letter Catherine Bowen 
   
14 January 2021 
(am) 
(joint meeting with 
DM Committee) 

Draft Budget 2021/22 Lisa Buckle 

   
14 January 2021 
(pm) 

Executive Forward Plan Janice Young 

 Task and Finish Group Updates (if any)  
   
25 February 2021 Executive Forward Plan Janice Young 
 Task and Finish Group Updates (if any)  

P
age 109

A
genda Item

 12



 Leisure Contract – Fusion Annual Report Jon Parkinson 
   
1 April 2021 Executive Forward Plan Janice Young 
 Task and Finish Group Updates (if any)  
   

 
Items to be considered for scheduling: 
 

- Food Safety Annual Service Plan (Ian Luscombe); 
- Electric Charging Points: Update on Lobbying and Project Costs (Chris Brook); and 
- Sustainable Community Locality Fund – Expenditure and Process (Neil Hawke). 

P
age 110


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Public Forum
	7 Executive Forward Plan
	HomelessReport
	Homeless_Appx1
	Homeless_Appx1a
	Homeless_Appx2
	Homeless_Appx3
	Homeless_Appx4

	8 Waste Service Update - Presentation and Briefing Note
	WastePresentation

	9 ICT Update
	ITResilience_EXEMPTAppxA
	ITResilience_AppxB

	10 Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report
	AnnualReport_Appx

	12 Annual O+S Work Programme

